          1

          2  CITY COUNCIL

          3

             CITY OF NEW YORK

          4

             -------------------------------x

          5

             THE TRANSCRIPT OF THE MINUTES

          6

                       of the

          7

             COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          8

             -------------------------------x

          9

         10                 February 22, 1999

                            Start:  5:35 p.m.

         11                 Recess: 9:15 p.m.

         12                 The Schomburg Centre for Research

                            in Black Culture

         13                 415 Malcolm X Boulevard

                            New York, New York

         14

         15       B E F O R E:

         16              STEPHEN DiBRIENZA

                                           Chairperson,

         17

         18              COUNCIL MEMBERS:   Ronnie Eldridge

                                            Guillermo Linares

         19                                 Juanita Watkins

                                            Bill Perkins

         20                                 Michael Abel

         21

         22

         23

         24       LEGAL-EASE COURT REPORTING SERVICES, INC.

                         217 Broadway -  Suite 511

         25              New York, New York 10007

                              (800) 756-3410

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            2

          1

          2  A P P E A R A N C E S

          3

             Judge Karen Burstein

          4

             Sweety Blake

          5

             Michael Arsham

          6  Child Welfare Organizing Project

          7  Joan Gibbs

             Center for Law and Social Justice

          8

             Khatira Hikmah

          9

             Bob Knox

         10  Association of Black Social Workers

         11  Janice Schindler

         12  Aramintha Grant

         13  Sharonne Salaam

             Director

         14  People United for Children

         15  Agatha Sibley

         16  Pat Reed

         17  Denise Burgess

         18  Renee L. Jackson

             People United for Children

         19

             Dorothy Dupont

         20

             Irma Isaac

         21  People United for Children

         22  Dottie Conway

             The Child Welfare Action Center

         23

             John Bess

         24  The Valley, Inc.

         25

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            3

          1

          2  A P P E A R A N C E S (CONTINUED)

          3

             Edwin Scott

          4  The Valley, Inc.

          5  John Courtney

             Hunter College

          6

             Wilbur McReynolds

          7

             Sister Florence Speth

          8  Tier II Coalition

          9  Anjalena Harvey

         10  Susie Smith

         11  Marie Caldo

         12  Dyandria Murray

             Save Our Children USA, Inc.

         13

             Geraldine Lourie

         14

             Posr A. Posr

         15  Pro Se Views

         16  Ernest Williams

             Fathers Are Parents Too

         17

             Sonny B. Southerlands

         18  The People's Advocacy Group

         19  Leslie Meadows Brown

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            4

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: We are going

          3  to take a minute or two, ladies and gentlemen, to

          4  explain exactly who we are and as one of our

          5  colleagues joins us momentarily, why we are here and

          6  then the rest of the evening we will hear from any

          7  and all of you who have scheduled to talk to us, the

          8  witnesses.

          9                 My name is Steve DiBrienza, and I am

         10  not only a City Council Member but I am the Chair of

         11  this General Welfare Committee. With me tonight are

         12  various members of the Committee. Council Member

         13  Mike Abel, on the far end of the panel, who is from

         14  Queens and a member of this Committee. Council

         15  Member Guillermo Linares, who is a member of this

         16  Committee from Manhattan. Council Member, and I know

         17  he doesn't really need an introduction because we

         18  are in his home district and I will speak more about

         19  him in a moment, but Council Member Bill Perkins.

         20  And in a moment joining us will be Council Member

         21  Ronnie Eldridge, also a member of this Committee.

         22                 Before we are done, we expect to be

         23  joined by other members of the Committee. Scheduling

         24  being a little difficult this time of year, one's

         25  budget documents come out, and we hope to be joined
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          2  by Martin Malave-Dilan, Juanita Watkins and the

          3  Reverend Lloyd Henry and Angel Rodriguez, but all

          4  told, we have a majority of the Committee and hope

          5  to have the rest of them before we are done.

          6                 Now, by way of a quick background,

          7  the General Welfare Committee has jurisdiction over

          8  very important and critical agencies in our City,

          9  the Human Resources Administration, HRA, and all of

         10  its components, the Department of Homeless Services,

         11  the Human Rights Commission, the Administration for

         12  Children's Services, ACS, and all of its components,

         13  we share in many ways jurisdiction over some of the

         14  related agencies, ACD, the Agency for Child

         15  Development, which covers much of our day care,

         16  working families and some welfare recipient

         17  families, OES, which of course is the Office of

         18  Employment Services, part of the HRA, and you

         19  hopefully know all of these components, but more

         20  importantly I believe, and I think my colleagues

         21  will attest to this, I have chaired this Committee

         22  now for about five and a half, six years, whatever

         23  it has been, a little longer, I have always viewed,

         24  and I think my colleagues would agree with this,

         25  this Committee, as an activist committee, it is a
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          2  committee that belongs to the people of this City,

          3  wherever they are, whatever the cause, whether you

          4  are an advocate, an activist, a recipient of

          5  services, to the extent possible, we have always

          6  made this Committee available. And, so to that

          7  community, the advocates, activists, recipient

          8  community, it seems to me that in government you

          9  should not be willing to make policy without talking

         10  to the people most affected by the policies you

         11  make, and as the Committee is charged with oversight

         12  over those agencies, it has become particularly

         13  important to hear from the activists, advocates and

         14  community and community of participants and

         15  recipients of services, at a time when much of

         16  social service, much of the things that we have

         17  known over the years are under attack, both

         18  nationally on a state and city level, by

         19  administrations that seemed to have forgotten, or

         20  maybe they never knew, or maybe they don't want to

         21  know, how difficult it sometimes is for those in

         22  need, and while it is probably okay to think

         23  government can't do it all, there is certainly a lot

         24  that government should and must do and what they

         25  should and must do they should do well, and in that
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          2  general category I think falls the need to help

          3  protect children and families at risk, and those who

          4  find themselves in need, whether for short term or

          5  mid-term, the various social services that should be

          6  out there.

          7                 In any event, since we view this

          8  Committee in that way, and, Councilman Perkins, I do

          9  want to take a moment again, and let me introduce

         10  Council Member Ronnie Eldridge, I indicated she

         11  would be here momentarily and she joined us, also

         12  from Manhattan, when Council Member Perkins talked

         13  to me about taking the Committee in a sense and

         14  bringing it to the community, I quickly responded

         15  several years ago, we did this in all five boroughs,

         16  surrounding a tragedy then, a child welfare tragedy

         17  where more and more children were suffering and

         18  dying, and in April, all too often, we took the

         19  Committee to all five boroughs, we did a report as a

         20  result of our work, it led to some of the changes

         21  and to the then creation of ACS in part, as did

         22  published accounts, activists and advocates and

         23  eventually Mayoral action. But when he said can you

         24  come up to Harlem and arrange for this meeting to be

         25  held at the Schomberg Centre, I quickly said yes
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          2  because my office had been hearing, and I think

          3  again this is true of my colleagues, about some of

          4  the problems we think we will hear about tonight

          5  that Council Member Perkins was talking about.

          6                 Namely, as the pendulum swings, and I

          7  will just outline one or two and then we will get to

          8  the witnesses statements, as the pendulum swings, as

          9  it often does, from a point where perhaps some would

         10  argue we were to the exclusion of all else trying to

         11  keep families together, and as important as a notion

         12  and as important a concept that is, you know, the

         13  argument went that maybe we were doing that to the

         14  exclusion of all else, and there were some cases

         15  when we needed to remove children for their safety,

         16  then it went to the other extreme where constantly

         17  and for any, you know, sort of slightest possible

         18  reason children are being pulled almost without

         19  regard to whether a family can be preserved, and

         20  within that swing, more time than not children of

         21  color are being pulled and put into foster care. And

         22  that was something we were hearing and was of

         23  concern.

         24                 Second, at a time when the system is

         25  trying to change to a more community-based system,
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          2  another set of worries was evidence in advance both

          3  to Bill and myself and to others, which is that as

          4  awards began to take place in the Bronx and then

          5  eventually the other boroughs, it is a real danger

          6  that sort of indigenous, long-time

          7  neighborhood-based organizations, particularly those

          8  run by minority groups, could be left out of the mix

          9  when we somehow change the system to what is going

         10  to be called a community-based system because you

         11  will have so many organizations bidding and working

         12  to obtain contracts that are perhaps not long-term

         13  parts of the community, but rather able to manage

         14  the competition, the process, set up satellites and

         15  the like, and so there has been some evidence and

         16  concern raised there, and those were I think the two

         17  main issues raised, and on top of that there was a

         18  question, I think perhaps Council Member Perkins

         19  directly and some of us indirectly, the issue was

         20  raised that overall the need for this system, this

         21  foster care system that ACS runs, to be aware of --

         22  this is not a sense that they are truly aware of the

         23  problem children and families are faced with, and

         24  that is evidenced by the continuous cuts to

         25  preventive services could keep families together and
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          2  children out of foster care, that is evidenced by

          3  some of the sensitivity issues to the populations

          4  involved and the like.

          5                 So, at least those three reasons, and

          6  perhaps many others, we gladly responded to the

          7  Council member and brought the Committee up here to

          8  this wonderful Schomberg Centre in Harlem to hear

          9  from a number of community groups, as well as other

         10  advocates, who have been invited to testify.

         11                 This is our second hearing and we are

         12  doing now more and more hearings in series. We are

         13  trying to say, you know, identify a problem area as

         14  opposed to a problem, a problem area, and try to do

         15  a series of hearings so that we can learn as much as

         16  we can before making recommendations. We did that in

         17  the area of welfare issues, direct welfare issues,

         18  workfare issues, welfare issues, welfare to work

         19  issues, it was very successful. We are moving

         20  towards the second half, it is about the fourth or

         21  fifth in that series where we are talking more and

         22  more about the real deal which is the need for

         23  quality affordable license regulated day care and

         24  for real jobs, you cannot go from welfare to work

         25  without the two. You could talk about workfare all
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          2  you want, but it is basically a kind of government

          3  by cliche, if you say we are going to move people

          4  from welfare to work and you don't create jobs and

          5  you don't expand day care. Well, in this area of

          6  ACS, the idea is to identify problems in foster

          7  care, whatever they may be, whether good, bad or

          8  indifferent problems there may be, and hear from as

          9  many different folks and as many points of view as

         10  possible.

         11                 So, with that, let me say thank you

         12  to Council Member Perkins, to our hosts here at the

         13  Schomberg Centre.

         14                 We are joined now by another member

         15  of the Committee, Council Member Juanita Watkins

         16  from Queens, as anticipated. We have just about all

         17  of the members of the Committee, a couple more I am

         18  sure will be here before we are done.

         19                 I will ask if Council Member Perkins,

         20  another member of the Committee and who, again, has

         21  the additional role of being our host tonight in

         22  that sense or co-host, along with the folks at the

         23  Schomberg Center, if he has a statement to make, and

         24  if so, fine. If not, we will move to our first

         25  witnesses.
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          2                 Please feel free to look upon this

          3  Committee as a vehicle, in the best sense of that

          4  word, for your issues, concerns and cares, that is

          5  how we have always run it, that is how the members

          6  of this Committee have always felt, and there is no

          7  exception tonight.

          8                 So, with that, Council Member Perkins

          9  and then, unless there are any other opening

         10  comments, we will take our first witnesses.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: I am not

         12  going to make a statement at this time, I just

         13  wanted to thank you, as the Chair, and my colleagues

         14  who sit on this Committee, for being here this

         15  evening and being responsive to the concerns that

         16  this Committee has jurisdiction over.

         17                 I want to thank the Schomberg for

         18  once again opening its doors to the community, and I

         19  want to thank the community for turning out as you

         20  have, and for those of you who plan on participating

         21  for what you are about to share. With that, I would

         22  like to begin.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         24                 Our first witness is the Honorable

         25  Karen Burstein.
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          2                 Karen.

          3                 Now, I think witnesses are going to

          4  come up here and sit with us on stage, that is the

          5  set up.

          6                 Oh, I forgot to make one

          7  announcement, and we should be consistent. Every

          8  witness who appears before our Committee is sworn

          9  in. That is not the common practice of the Council,

         10  but we do it because I think it -- and while it may

         11  be the least appropriate in some ways tonight, given

         12  you are all activists and advocates and interested

         13  members of the public who have come before us, as

         14  opposed to some who are sometimes compelled to

         15  appear before us, we would like to be consistent, so

         16  we are going to ask if you will all be sworn, or you

         17  can affirm, of course, if that is your preference

         18  from a religious point of view.

         19                 So, I direct your attention to

         20  Counsel to the Committee.

         21                 COUNSEL: Do you swear or affirm that

         22  the testimony you are about to give is the truth,

         23  the whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         24                 MS. BURSTEIN: To the extent I know

         25  what the truth is, yes.
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          2                 COUNSEL: Please state your name for

          3  the record.

          4                 MS. BURSTEIN: My name is Karen

          5  Burstein. I am a former Family Court Judge. I

          6  practice law now. Most of the law I practice is

          7  commercial and telecommunications, but now and again

          8  I do family work, and now and again I do pro bono

          9  Family Court work. And I think I should start this

         10  way: the first time I realized what a horror foster

         11  care was when I had a young man who was waiting to

         12  return to his mother, when I was a Family Court

         13  Judge, and he had been trying and trying to get

         14  back. I was one of the relatively few judges who

         15  actually talked to children who were before me,

         16  whose cases were before me, even though such

         17  children are represented by lawyers, and there is a

         18  notion sometimes that a judge should not be directly

         19  involved.

         20                 In any event, I finally took him and

         21  I said to him I promise you in ten days you can go

         22  back to your mother, and let me show you on the

         23  calendar what ten days is. And he said, I don't

         24  believe you, I think you are just going to send me

         25  to another fake family. And it was -- I think that
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          2  the thing you have to know is that while there are

          3  some wonderful foster care parents, and indeed for

          4  some people foster care is what saves their lives,

          5  and certainly for children with particular special

          6  needs, some of our therapeutic foster homes are

          7  extraordinary, we should be very grateful that human

          8  beings will put themselves forward to take this

          9  responsibility, on balance it is a terrible,

         10  terrible alternative.

         11                 I almost say to you I am coming to

         12  believe that unless you have got a family that is

         13  desperately dangerous, you shouldn't take kids away.

         14                 And I say that because we are under

         15  the misimpresion about what we provide in the way of

         16  safety of security in foster care.

         17                 The problem about foster care is that

         18  the system has a stake in its working, so what would

         19  become an absolute incident for removal of children

         20  becomes something that people gloss over or find

         21  alternative solutions for. Let me give you a

         22  concrete example. And Ronnie is familiar with this

         23  because we spent a day in court on this matter.

         24                 About 18 months ago, a woman who is

         25  32 years old and with two children lost those

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            16

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  children because a Mt. Sinai physician believed that

          3  she was not attending properly to her child's health

          4  care needs. Now, remember that these children, you

          5  don't know this, but these children have been with

          6  her, the boy for about seven years and the girl for

          7  three and a half years at that point, and both of

          8  them were sickly children and both of them in fact

          9  are on SSI. But one of the children, the little

         10  girl, who had been at the Mt. Sinai Clinic for a

         11  very long time, finally got an operation that

         12  allowed her no longer to have to be fed through a

         13  tube. And when the mother brought her for an

         14  appointment, a new doctor who had not seen my

         15  client, came forward and said why aren't you feeding

         16  her with the tube? And she said, well, she can now

         17  eat by mouth. And they said, you feed her by the

         18  tube or we are going to call an ACS report on you.

         19  And she said I am a good mother, you are not going

         20  to call, and if you call, nothing is going to

         21  happen.

         22                 And so in fact they did call, and

         23  initially ACS actually had the courage to find that

         24  this child was being perfectly well dealt with and

         25  shouldn't be removed and neither should her brother.
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          2  But because the doctors, at a fancy hospital,

          3  decided that we had a very uppety woman here, and

          4  because they threatened to go to the press, the

          5  children were taken. Now, that is 18 months ago.

          6                 In that 18 months the kids have been

          7  in six foster homes and three times back at the

          8  contract agency. In that 18 months the little girl

          9  has been sexually abused twice. In that 18 months

         10  the little boy has had a piece of styrofoam put in

         11  his ear by a hyperactive foster child in the home

         12  from which they have finally, after four instances,

         13  removed him. He has also had his head hit hard

         14  enough so that he ran a fever and was dizzy and the

         15  judge in the matter said that they could keep the

         16  child there in this foster home if they gave the

         17  hyperactive kid some more Ritalin. And finally, the

         18  children were removed last week because the

         19  hyperactive foster child, who, by the way, of course

         20  I have a great sympathy for, but nonetheless is not

         21  being watched by the foster mother, because on

         22  Sunday morning, Sunday morning he opened the arm of

         23  this little boy and on Tuesday, by happenstance, the

         24  contract agency made a home visit and found this boy

         25  with 103 temperature and his arm opened sufficiently
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          2  so you could see the inside of the flesh. And they

          3  immediately removed the kids. Had my client had

          4  those children, she would be in jail today.

          5                 And why is in fact nothing done

          6  about, what has nothing been done about this

          7  circumstance is because the system made a

          8  determination 18 months ago that my client is a bad

          9  woman, she has done dangerous things, and also she

         10  has a very exciting diagnosis, she is supposedly

         11  suffering from Munchausen Syndrome by proxy, which

         12  suggests that people make their kids sick so they

         13  will be sympathetic.

         14                 And you are going to watch it, I can

         15  promise you in the Family Court you will see it

         16  happen again and again and again.

         17                 What this woman was, was somebody who

         18  demanded attention for her kids, and maybe she was a

         19  little overzealous, but she wasn't rich and she

         20  didn't have a very effective voice, and she wasn't

         21  like that family that was featured on the front

         22  cover of the New York Times a couple of weeks ago, a

         23  woman whose child had a degenerative disease and

         24  wanted to use gene therapy on the child, and who

         25  then, this woman, went to Yale, got this fancy
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          2  doctor who runs peer programs, accused her of being

          3  a murderer, and the next thing, the FDA approved

          4  something never approved before and this woman

          5  became a poster person for the caring parent, I know

          6  we want to denigrate what she did. But that is what

          7  my client was doing, only my client didn't have

          8  those resources and those connections and nobody

          9  knew about it to put it on the front page of the New

         10  York Times.

         11                 Okay, and let me tell you something

         12  else that is so incredible about the system, is that

         13  the other clients I have, both saints, mostly to

         14  Ronnie, the other client I have -- what I mean is

         15  Ronnie keeps sending me these pro bono cases.

         16                 The other client I have is in trouble

         17  because she didn't take enough medical care of her

         18  kids. She is a young woman who had a second child

         19  and we are told she had to breastfeed, didn't get

         20  any kind of instruction, went for her Well baby

         21  appointment to Methodist Hospital, didn't have her

         22  Medicaid card, didn't had $25, had only $15, they

         23  sent her away, they didn't say to her you are

         24  breastfeeding young lady, you have to have this baby

         25  weighed the whole time, otherwise you don't know
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          2  that the baby is getting sufficient nutrition and

          3  six weeks later, just as she was finally able to get

          4  the child to an appointment that she secured at the

          5  Department of Health the baby died. She was then

          6  arrested and charged with murder.

          7                 Happily the DA looked at it, enough

          8  to know in Brooklyn that there shouldn't be such a

          9  charge. But ACS took the child, and then ACS spent

         10  something like eight months doing nothing, not

         11  providing grief counseling for somebody who has lost

         12  their baby and are the parents in her life, not

         13  providing any kind of job training, not providing

         14  decent shelter assistance, not providing any

         15  parenting skills, all of those things happen to have

         16  been provided because there was somebody, it was

         17  Ronnie. No Medicaid. I mean, it happened to be

         18  provided because some people outside, you know, the

         19  ACS system intervened. But what it told me, and it

         20  continues to tell me, I don't know what the answer

         21  to this is, except that I have to stress it to you,

         22  all struggles are really about clashing narratives,

         23  and the way things get decided in this world is that

         24  one narrative triumphs, one story is the one that

         25  persuades everybody, is the one that people see as
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          2  the truth, and the problem of that, our system, is

          3  that people who are poor and people

          4  disproportionately in this City who are poor, are

          5  people of color, have in fact insufficient voices to

          6  have their narratives heard.

          7                 So, there are no stories from that

          8  side, and I look at these two cases that I am

          9  involved as emblematic, what I see is the following:

         10                 There is the default story, the story

         11  of the good doctor who knows what is good for the

         12  children, and the mother who is not terribly

         13  articulate and who hangs around the hospital a

         14  little too much. And she didn't get to speak her

         15  story because she got an 18B attorney and then

         16  another 18B attorney, who didn't call any kind of

         17  witnesses and didn't have any resources and who

         18  asked for transcripts and the judge wouldn't give

         19  them.

         20                 And in the case of my other client,

         21  the default story is every single mother has to know

         22  how to breastfeed a baby. Of course we know that's

         23  not true. Anybody who is 22 years old or 20 years

         24  old who has a baby ought to be able to be capable of

         25  taking care of it, and if not, if that baby dies,
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          2  she must be guilty -- and she didn't have anybody to

          3  speak for her until we finally were able to -- I

          4  mean, we spoke early enough that in fact she is in a

          5  better position, but then let me close with this:

          6  The problem is that she is in a better position

          7  except that here we are months and months later,

          8  maybe a year later, this system moves so slowly,

          9  everybody has every kind of excuse.

         10                 When I came with Ronnie up here, we

         11  were talking about the fact that you say, well, what

         12  can we do, we do the ACS piece but we can't do

         13  anything else. That's not true you know. The City

         14  Council funds the Corp Counsel's Office, and Corp

         15  Counsel and HRA send their lawyers in to represent

         16  ACS. You ought to be talking to those people, and

         17  finding out where they think their obligations lie,

         18  and what they think they should be expecting from

         19  their own caseworkers, their clients, and what

         20  obligations they have to make until their client

         21  speaks the truth, and don't make excuses.

         22                 The second thing is that the City

         23  funds Legal Aid and gives contracts out for not only

         24  legal aid but for advocates for children, and you

         25  ought to be talking to the Legal Aid people about
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          2  what their sense is. How is it possible in the case

          3  that I told you about with the Munchhausen mother,

          4  that the Legal Aid lawyer who has kept this case

          5  alive, who kept my children, these children away

          6  from my client, these children who desperately love

          7  their mother, who were A students when they were

          8  taken and are failing every single class now, that

          9  law guardian has seen those kids twice in 18 months.

         10  You ought to see those people and you ought to ask

         11  them to account for what they are doing.

         12                 And finally, the people who are --

         13  you have got to figure out a way that you can get

         14  people who are part of the bar who are also funded

         15  out of county funds, you know, the 18B people, you

         16  have to figure out how they are going to become

         17  committed enough to be advocates, real advocates,

         18  and do the kind of work that I do as a private

         19  attorney. I give my pro bono clients, what I would

         20  give somebody who is paying me $350 or $400 an hour,

         21  but believe me, that doesn't happen very much. In

         22  fact Ronnie will tell you that we are in the middle

         23  of a terrible crisis because I can't find somebody

         24  to take a case and they have told me I can't

         25  substitute in for this 18B lawyer that I have been

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            24

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  writing all of the material from behind the scenes

          3  for.

          4                 So, I mean, I am reading a book by a

          5  guy who survived the Holocaust, one of the very few

          6  Jews, a man called Victor Klumper, and it is called

          7  I Shall Bear Witness, I don't want to pretend to you

          8  that we are talking about a Holocaust because we are

          9  not, but I will tell you what we are talking about,

         10  we are talking about killing ground for kids in this

         11  City. We are talking about a lot of children in a

         12  lot of pain and our incapacity to see them enough

         13  that we can save them. I don't think we can save

         14  every one of them, and I think we have to be

         15  enormously careful and we have to do what you talked

         16  about a minute ago.

         17                 You said we always go -- the thing is

         18  it is if there are only two cases on the pendulum,

         19  you know, you take all of the kids and you leave

         20  them there, or you take them all away, well that is

         21  not the way the world works.

         22                 You know, in our own lives we make

         23  careful discrimination among different kinds of

         24  choices, we don't have templates, we try to respond

         25  to the facts as they are, and that is a lot to ask
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          2  of government, but I will tell you something, if we

          3  don't, we already have generations of children who

          4  have grown up inside of a system that absolutely

          5  makes it impossible to be up through the foster care

          6  system. You cannot ever trust anybody if you come if

          7  you are a healthy person and came up through the

          8  foster care system, you deserve the Nobel Prize for

          9  health, for mental health.

         10                 So, we already have a whole group of

         11  kids we lost -- damaged. Not lost but damaged, and

         12  we will continue to do that. If we want to save the

         13  children, there is nothing more important we can do

         14  to make every single person in the system, every

         15  single person, every part of that system say to

         16  themselves, I don't only have two possibilities

         17  here, I have ten, or 15 or 20, and every time I have

         18  asked, I want to know that I am asking this time

         19  because I am right, and if I am wrong I want to be

         20  able to admit it.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Next two

         23  people I believe are coming up together, Michael

         24  Arsham, and is it Khatira Hiknah? You will have to,

         25  I can't make it out, it looks like Hiknah?
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          2                 MS. HIKMAH: Hikmah.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Hikman, thank

          4  you.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Mr. Chair, I

          6  just would like to take this opportunity to commend

          7  you and the Committee and Council Member Perkins for

          8  hosting this hearing.

          9                 I am going to excuse myself because I

         10  have a prior commitment, but I did want to be here

         11  because this is critical, not just for this

         12  community but also through communities throughout

         13  the City of New York, and as you worked it up, I

         14  shared with you that I wanted to bring this hearing

         15  to Washington Heights, to the Northern Manhattan

         16  community because we have many stories to tell there

         17  as well. And this I believe is part of our work, to

         18  make sure that our communities express and share the

         19  concerns that they have so that we can act

         20  appropriately as members of the City Council and

         21  with the appropriate authority.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: And of course

         23  we are more than willing, and as you know, all of

         24  the material we will keep assessed through counsel

         25  so that we can provide it to you and other members
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          2  of the committee, and I know everyone here should

          3  understand you have been a long time member and of

          4  course an active member of the Committee, so there

          5  is no question that we can try to accommodate you as

          6  well, Guillermo.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER LINARES: Yes, my

          9  assistant will remain here to make sure that I get

         10  all of the testimony.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA:  Great. Okay,

         12  thank you.

         13                 Okay, folks, if you raise your right

         14  hand.

         15                 Do you swear or affirm that this

         16  testimony you are about to give will be the truth?

         17                 MS. BLAKE: I do.

         18                 MR. ARSHAM: I do.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Tell us your

         20  name and any affiliation you have for the record,

         21  and then we will begin.

         22                 So, if you each decide the order of

         23  testimony.

         24                 MR. ARSHAM: I am Mike Arsham. I am

         25  the Executive Director of the Child Welfare
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          2  Organizing Project.

          3                 MS. BLAKE: Hi. My name is Sweety

          4  Blake.

          5                 MR. ARSHAM: I guess I will go first.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

          7                 MR. ARSHAM: The Child Welfare

          8  Organizing Project is an organization that is

          9  dedicated to strengthening the client voice in the

         10  development of child welfare policy. We want to

         11  thank the City Council for organizing this hearing

         12  and for inviting us here and commend you especially

         13  for bringing this hearing to Harlem which is the

         14  community that has the greatest stake than most in

         15  child welfare reform.

         16                 As it happens, my first New York City

         17  child welfare position was in Harlem, as is my

         18  present position, and I wanted to spend just the

         19  opening minute of my testimony describing my first

         20  Harlem child welfare experience because I think the

         21  contrast between that and the present experience

         22  really provides a very clear illustration of how

         23  some recent trends in public policy are damaging

         24  this community.

         25                 In 1981 I was hired as a social
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          2  worker by Reiland Centers for Children and Families

          3  and I worked at PS 207 on 117th Street and Lenox

          4  Avenue where I staffed the truancy prevention

          5  program.

          6                 Our service approach was pretty

          7  simple. We checked the roll books, we had identified

          8  kids who were missing a lot at school, we went out,

          9  we knocked on their doors, we asked their parents

         10  what the problem was, and once in awhile, once in a

         11  long while we found children who did seem to be

         12  genuinely abused and neglected and we did what was

         13  necessary to protect them. But far more often, and I

         14  really have to stress, far more often what we found

         15  were overwhelmed working single mothers, or parents

         16  who were themselves very young and inexperienced or

         17  who were depressed or who was sick, who was

         18  struggling with extreme poverty and terrible housing

         19  conditions, but they welcomed us into their homes

         20  and they said, yes, I would like my children to get

         21  a good education, for my family to function better

         22  in general, can Reiland really help me? And we tried

         23  our best to return the respect that they showed us

         24  and to work with them in good faith on the basis

         25  that they wanted to raise healthy, safe,
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          2  self-respecting children.

          3                 Since this time Reidland has helped

          4  thousands of parents to find improved housing, find

          5  jobs, return to school, get medical attention,

          6  rethink dangerous personal relationships and has

          7  served thousands of children in its after school

          8  programs. I really doubt that the agency would have

          9  been able to accomplish this much if its staff had

         10  worked from some false and disrespectful premise

         11  like because of your child truancy we suspect that

         12  you are a bad or a dangerous parent and we are here

         13  to save your child from you.

         14                 You know, 20 years later what have we

         15  learned, and what is the basic premise on which

         16  child welfare system is being restructured. The City

         17  has reacted to the tragic but extreme case of

         18  Sabrina Green, who you may remember is a child who

         19  was missing from school and who was murdered and the

         20  City's response to this has been to create an

         21  attendance tracking unit which is a division of the

         22  New York Police Department. By design this is a unit

         23  that seems likely to respond to all parents of

         24  truant children as if they were potential killers or

         25  at least suspects.
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          2                 At the same time programs like

          3  Reidland's are being repeatedly cut. Child welfare

          4  policy is being shaped more by tabloid headlines

          5  than by decades of street level experience, and this

          6  is simply one example of the Giuliani and Pataki

          7  Administration policy of cutting public funding for

          8  community-based family support services in

          9  communities like Harlem where they are needed most,

         10  and replacing them with police action or with legal

         11  sanctions. There are many other such examples.

         12                 The Governor's 1995 child and family

         13  services block grant resulted in a near 20 percent

         14  cut to New York City preventive services. The

         15  Governor is now proposing to extend the block grant

         16  to eliminate the Maintenance of Effort Agreement

         17  which had protected preventive services from even

         18  deeper cuts and the Mayor is once again proposing

         19  severe cuts to preventive services, including the

         20  elimination of the Beacon School Preventive

         21  Programs.

         22                 Now, I have yet to hear the Mayor or

         23  ACS explain how this particular cut is consistent

         24  with a shift toward the neighborhood-based child

         25  welfare system, which the Beacon schools really
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          2  epitomize, including the four that are located in

          3  Harlem.

          4                 Involuntary removals of children in

          5  foster care have increased dramatically, rising from

          6  less than 8,000 in 1995 to 12,000 in 1996. One out

          7  of every ten Central Harlem children is in foster

          8  care.

          9                 Arrests and prosecution of parents on

         10  child endangerment charges rose by about 75 percent

         11  in 1994 and 1996. The Mayor and the Governor both

         12  endorsed proposed legislation to make drug use

         13  during pregnancy grounds for criminal charges and

         14  for foster care placement of babies at birth, and

         15  meanwhile already scarce treatment resources for

         16  pregnant and parenting women have been drastically

         17  cut by the Mayor beginning in 1994 when about half

         18  of the family rehabilitation programs, including

         19  three in Harlem, closed their doors. Both the Mayor

         20  and the Governor have consistently tended to view

         21  the federal Adoption and Safe Families Act, mainly

         22  as a means to speed up termination of parental

         23  rights and relieve state and local government of

         24  their responsibility for making efforts to preserve

         25  families and free foster children for adoption more
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          2  quickly.

          3                 The Governor has steadily refused to

          4  access federal family preservation funds.

          5                 These trends were accompanied by

          6  similar related shifts in public policy intended to

          7  deny financial and medical assistance and emergency

          8  shelter to families in crisis and in stressed

          9  communities like Harlem, these policies can really

         10  translate into needless destruction of families,

         11  sometimes falsely characterized as child protection.

         12                 In closing I would just like to

         13  outline a few brief recommendations that we would

         14  like to make.

         15                 Number one, the City must renew its

         16  commitment to community-based preventive services.

         17  This would involve the Mayor devoting less energy

         18  and rhetoric protecting New York City children from

         19  their parents and more to protecting them from their

         20  Governor.

         21                 Preventive services should be more

         22  central to ACS' vision of neighborhood-based

         23  services and ACS must eliminate regulatory barriers

         24  to preventive foster care coordinations, such as

         25  bulletin 8314 which we discussed in the first
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          2  hearing.

          3                 It does seem clear that families of

          4  color living in poverty are much more vulnerable to

          5  government intervention, such as protective removal

          6  and termination of parental rights in our more

          7  privileged families, given the gravity of these kind

          8  of decisions, the inadequacy of the legal resources

          9  available to poor parents is deplorable, it is not

         10  unconstitutional. These resources do need to be

         11  augmented, and strengthened.

         12                 The Council might want to even

         13  consider the creation of an oversight body, similar

         14  to the CCRB, which could provide some recourse for

         15  parents who feel their rights have been violated by

         16  ACS. And because the potential for violation is

         17  really just as dramatic as we see in other areas of

         18  public policy.

         19                 Finally, clients of the child welfare

         20  services must become more involved in ACS

         21  decision-making through enforcement of their legal

         22  rights to visitation, participation and service plan

         23  reviews and access to their case records, and

         24  expanded use of client feedback as a measure of

         25  contract agency performance.
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          2                 Thank you very much.

          3                 MS. BLAKE: Again, my name is Sweety

          4  Blake, and I thank you for this opportunity to

          5  speak.

          6                 I would like to speak on problems in

          7  the City's foster care system from my perspective as

          8  a mother of children in foster care.

          9                 From my point of view, the foster

         10  care system does not really value or support natural

         11  mothers in natural families. As a mother in recovery

         12  I can be honest about my life, and admit that I have

         13  made serious mistakes as a parent, as a human being.

         14                 The child welfare system was quick to

         15  recognize my mistakes. It has been less quick to

         16  recognize the positive step I have taken on anything

         17  positive about me. I feel like my children foster

         18  care agency has given me little credit for the

         19  progress I have made in my recovery or my life in

         20  general.

         21                 I have been clean for 16 months. I

         22  have worked hard to improve my family relationship.

         23  I am continuing my education. I am a client at New

         24  York Founding Hospital Pathway Center where I

         25  participate in a variety of treatment, parenting,
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          2  educational and job training activities.

          3                 My own life has not been easy. None

          4  of this progress has come easy to me, but I am doing

          5  it, not by mandate but by choice.

          6                 Aside from any custody issues, I

          7  would like to be positive, a positive influence in

          8  my children's life. I would like to continue to

          9  repair my relationship with them and for them to

         10  understand that my addiction had nothing to do with

         11  their value as human beings or how much love I feel

         12  for them.

         13                 I would like some support for the

         14  foster care agency, but when I ask for increased

         15  visitation on family counseling or therapy, I am

         16  treated like a nuisance or a distraction. Instead of

         17  saying it seems like she may be ready to be more a

         18  resource to her children, they seem to wish that I

         19  would just disappear. It would make their jobs more

         20  simpler.

         21                 It is hard for me to understand how

         22  refusing to recognize or help a mother struggling

         23  toward health and sobriety serves the best interest

         24  of her children, yet I see this happening not only

         25  in my cases but in many of the cases that I
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          2  experience in this Pathways, I see a lot of things

          3  going on there, and it is like my story is told to

          4  me over and over again. And this is very serious to

          5  me because I have worked hard to get to where I am

          6  at today. And I will not give up. You know, as long

          7  as there are people in here like this, I will not

          8  give up because I want my children. And like I said

          9  before, I made many mistakes in my life but now I am

         10  repairing a lot of the things that happened along

         11  the way in my life. And people do make mistakes.

         12                 Thank you again for the opportunity

         13  to testify.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: If you would

         15  stay, if you both would stay one minute, Council

         16  Member Watkins has a question or a comment or both.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Ms. Blake,

         18  thank you for sharing your story with us.

         19                 Do you get home visitations where you

         20  can have your children come spend an overnight with

         21  you, for example?

         22                 MS. BLAKE: Due to my case's -- I

         23  really can't explain it, but I do visit my children

         24  but it is like the ACS people, when I am there, they

         25  don't really communicate with me, and during this
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          2  time in the 16 months, I never went to court for

          3  anything, so it is like I don't really understand

          4  what is going on. So, I need the advocacy that the

          5  young woman that came up here and spoke about. You

          6  know, I am sorry, I need to either learn how to

          7  advocate for myself, and this is a good chance for

          8  me, because a lot of people, sometimes I get a

          9  little nervous, but I need to learn, well, a lot of

         10  women probably, need to learn how to advocate for

         11  themselves, maybe they need more groups on that

         12  also.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Let me say

         14  this to you, advocating for yourself is something

         15  you need to learn truly, but it has been our

         16  experience that you need and really like you, need

         17  others to advocate on your behalf.

         18                 The unfortunate part is that what

         19  Judge Burstein said and what you are exemplifying is

         20  that parents who are poor, parents who are people of

         21  color, often become invisible in the system and you

         22  speak and it is like your voice gets lost between

         23  sounds that come out and the ears that should hear

         24  them.

         25                 Being in the midst of dealing with
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          2  cases such as yours, and having worked over quite a

          3  period of time with the Women's Prison Association,

          4  when I say this I mean it, unfortunately in some

          5  cases parents who have not been to prison don't have

          6  access to a follow-up group who will provide

          7  lawyers, who will provide social workers, who will

          8  provide experienced advocates, who are used to

          9  negotiating the system and the bureaucracy.

         10                 Maybe we need to come up with more

         11  community-based not-for-profits who are able to do

         12  this. I don't know who your Councilperson and who

         13  your Assemblyperson might be, but knock on their

         14  doors, ring their telephones and ask them to help

         15  you negotiate the system. They should listen to you

         16  as far as ACS, but it has been our experience that

         17  in most cases they don't. And therefore, you get

         18  caught up in not attending to the fact that you have

         19  been cleaning 16 months and that you have gone

         20  through a program and that you are continuing

         21  follow-up and so on, all of which are very positive

         22  things.

         23                 My office just got through writing

         24  some letters, we signed off, we made the calls, we

         25  helped to get from pro bono legal help for a person
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          2  who is in a very similar circumstance. But

          3  fortunately because she had voices in addition to

          4  her own, she now can get her children to come and

          5  spend a weekend with her and we are looking towards

          6  eventually reconciling that family.

          7                 So, in all sincerity, press the

          8  buttons and ring the bells of people who can help

          9  you access the system at ACS and get them to get ACS

         10  to listen to you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay, thank

         12  you, Council member.

         13                 Council Member Eldridge has a

         14  question and then we will move to the next set of

         15  witnesses.

         16                 Council Member Eldridge.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Ms. Blake, I

         18  don't know if I understood correctly. How long have

         19  your children been in foster care?

         20                 MS. BLAKE: Nearly three years.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Three years.

         22                 And were you ever in court?

         23                 MS. BLAKE: No, I never went to court.

         24  I never went to court in the time that I was in the

         25  therapeutic community on out into this outpatient
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          2  community. It's like they don't communicate with me

          3  because I don't know if my case is different where,

          4  you know, once I heard that they gave the father

          5  custody, he needed an apartment, and because I don't

          6  have access to that stuff --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: So, the

          8  father has the custody of the children?

          9                 MS. BLAKE: That is what was told to

         10  me, but it was told to me through the father. When I

         11  get to the agency, it's like they don't really have

         12  anything to say to me because maybe the judge did

         13  give him that. But by him not participating in other

         14  things that he needs to do, you know, they are still

         15  focusing on him and not seeing that I am a partner.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: But the

         17  children are living with the father?

         18                 MS. BLAKE: No. Not at this moment.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: No. Now they

         20  are in an agency?

         21                 MS. BLAKE: They do have guardians.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: So they are

         23  living in somebody's home other than that?

         24                 MS. BLAKE: Exactly.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: What agency?
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          2                 MS. BLAKE: Forestdale, in Queens.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Forestdale.

          4                 MS. BLAKE: Yes, it's called

          5  Forestdale.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: And the New

          7  York Foundling Hospital Pathway Center, do they

          8  provide you help when you go to see the baby, the

          9  children? Are they giving you this kind of --

         10                 MS. BLAKE: They can only give me as

         11  much information as they can, you know. So, I am

         12  trying to like get Forestdale to speak with Pathways

         13  and maybe we can come to some sort of something,

         14  because they are not giving me the information being

         15  that maybe because the judge gave him the custody,

         16  and to me he is really not participating in things

         17  --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: But if he

         19  had custody and they are now in foster care, then I

         20  would assume he has lost the custody.

         21                 MS. BLAKE: It is confusing to me. You

         22  know, it is really rough for me.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: But when you

         24  visit the children, you visit them at the agency?

         25                 MS. BLAKE: Exactly.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Right. Okay,

          3  thank you.

          4                 MS. BLAKE: And may I add?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: What?

          6                 MS. BLAKE: There are so many other

          7  things that come along with getting your children

          8  back, in my case, and in my life, trying to, you

          9  know, establish something, and proper housing and

         10  all of this, because some females that I have been

         11  told, without the proper housing, even children are

         12  being taken out of the house because City-owned

         13  houses are not doing the work in the place where

         14  they are living.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: If you

         16  didn't have an apartment that they decided was

         17  adequate, even if you were ready to have the

         18  children, to have custody of the children, even if

         19  the Court was ready to give it to you --

         20                 MS. BLAKE: Exactly.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: They

         22  wouldn't let you take the children home.

         23                 MS. BLAKE: Exactly.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: Do you live

         25  in an apartment that you can have the children?
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          2                 MS. BLAKE: No, not at this moment.

          3  There are like so many things I am working on and I

          4  don't give up hope.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: I wish you

          6  luck. Thank you.

          7                 MS. BLAKE: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I am sorry,

          9  just one last thing. When you were going through the

         10  treatment program, was it a residential treatment

         11  program?

         12                 MS. BLAKE: Yes.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: And now you

         14  are living on your own?

         15                 MS. BLAKE: Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I know that

         17  that each is a step of progress along the way and

         18  that is the unfortunate point you make that they

         19  don't always observe that, it is important that that

         20  be noted, because, you know, you can see progress,

         21  we can hear progress, and we are listening to your

         22  story for five minutes, if they are assigned to be

         23  involved with you, you would think they could figure

         24  it out and we would hope that they can.

         25                 Now, Michael, before you go I just
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          2  want to mention, I know you know this, but this

          3  Council, this Committee and this Council has spoken

          4  repeatedly to the importance to preventive service

          5  dollars, has put our money where our individual and

          6  collective mouths are. It is an outrage that they

          7  want to once again cut preventive services, and that

          8  in the contracts to create this neighborhood-based

          9  system, they have had RFPs, let the contracts, have

         10  the competition, about to make awards and there is

         11  virtually no money for preventive services included

         12  and then they expect it not to become part of that

         13  self-fulfilling prophecy which you don't prevent,

         14  you end up placing more.

         15                 I just wanted to share that with you

         16  because you took the time to outline this, and thank

         17  you for suggestions. Again, all of this will

         18  continue to be part of these series where we get

         19  ourselves to a point of trying to move some of these

         20  suggestions.

         21                 MR. ARSHAM: If I can just speak to

         22  some of the questions that were raised just briefly.

         23  I mean, if Sweety's story sounds confusing, believe

         24  me, it is all too typical. I mean, if there is one

         25  pervasive theme that we hear from all of the women
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          2  and all of the clients who come to us, it's like I

          3  have wandered into this Alice in Wonderland scenario

          4  where up is down and down is up and it's like a game

          5  where either everybody knows the rules but be or

          6  there are no rules, and I mean we hear this

          7  constantly and pervasively.

          8                 The point that Council Member

          9  Eldridge touched upon, well, why if you are in a

         10  preventive program are they not communicating with

         11  the foster care program, ACS by policy discourages

         12  that kind of communication. That is the issue of

         13  bulletin 8314 that we touched upon in the first of

         14  these hearings. It is considered like a

         15  double-billing scheme, if two agencies are working

         16  with the same family and so they are actively

         17  discouraged from talking to one another.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: We certainly

         19  want to change it, if we can.

         20                 Thank you. Thank you, both.

         21                 Bob Knox is next, and he is bringing

         22  with him some folks, Janice Schindler and Amanda

         23  Grant. Thank you very much.

         24                 Okay, maybe I made a mistake but you

         25  are up here so I apologize. We tried to group all of

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            47

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  the, like Mike has someone with him, the next group

          3  had some people, so we are trying to group some

          4  people together so I may have juggled the cards

          5  wrong. But you are here so tell us -- I am sorry, I

          6  don't have the paper in front of me.

          7                 Why don't you raise your right hand.

          8  I know it sounds silly. It is really more for when

          9  we get back to City Hall so they can't say when you

         10  like the folks you don't make them do it, when you

         11  don't like them you do.

         12                 Just could you raise your right hand.

         13                 MS. HIKMAH: I affirm.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Do you affirm

         15  that the testimony you give will be the truth, the

         16  whole truth and nothing but the truth?

         17                 MS. HIKMAH: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: That's fine,

         19  okay.

         20                 MS. HIKMAN: Good afternoon, members

         21  of the City Council. My name is Khatira Hikman, and

         22  I have asked Joan Gibbs to sit with me, because of

         23  have spoken too many times of counsel. My testimony

         24  here does not at all relinquish the City of its

         25  obligation to my descendants, my daughter, my
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          2  granddaughter.

          3                 On April 25th, 1996, I had the

          4  pleasure, the luxury of 25 police officers, breaking

          5  in my door, handcuffing me and taking me to Harlem

          6  Hospital, and they think that I had a mental

          7  disorder.

          8                 Under the New York Human Rights Law,

          9  I am considered protected as T5 incomplete

         10  paraplegic, due to a car accident. Not only did

         11  Harlem Hospital keep me there four days, but they

         12  tied me to a gurney and they also injected me with

         13  Haldol against my belief that I had the right to

         14  refuse.

         15                 I was not able to catheterize for

         16  four days, I was not able to defend my

         17  granddaughter, who was ripped from my arms, I was

         18  handcuffed behind my back and forced to go 85 steps

         19  without use of my cane or my leg brace. This

         20  happened from the distinguished 32nd Precinct and

         21  Harlem Hospital, as we all know, is across the

         22  street, so I am back telling my story at my home

         23  base, in the house of my ancestors, the great

         24  Schomberg Library.

         25                 I, again, on the 29th of April, 25
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          2  medical health professionals or occupational

          3  therapists, doctors, the administrator, on call sat

          4  with me as I was still held in the mental ward of

          5  Harlem Hospital, and concluded that I was not a

          6  danger to myself or others and released me of my own

          7  cognizance. I went home to my apartment on Strivers

          8  Road to find that the police had left open my door

          9  for those entire four days, they made mockery of my

         10  tradition, I am an ordained minister of a religion.

         11  I am also a levin (sic) in the Faith Restoration

         12  Center.

         13                 My daughter was placed from my

         14  religious culture into the Good Shepherd Nuns,

         15  McMahan Services for Children, and I was given at

         16  the time of her, I would say challenged slavery in

         17  that institution, collecting beer cans and being

         18  molested by her foster Godparents.

         19                 I noticed that since that time the

         20  source of the complaint was from a Mr. Fletcher from

         21  the Protective Service for Adults, and I may add

         22  that Protective Service for Adults was doing exactly

         23  the same thing to senior citizens and the disabled

         24  inasfar as making them self-guardians and placing

         25  them in foster homes for the same financial
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          2  industry.

          3                 I would be advised at this time not

          4  to say too much more because I don't want to give

          5  the City of New York the opportunity to add more to

          6  the case that is in Southern District Court.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Well, that is

          8  important, if you are in the middle of litigation.

          9  We are never -- we are always torn between hearing

         10  people's stories and you obviously have to protect

         11  your rights that you have. In general we will take

         12  from this that your granddaughter is in a foster

         13  care setting?

         14                 MS. HIKMAH: My granddaughter, by the

         15  grace of God, and the elders in my family is now

         16  being totally protected by her great grandmother who

         17  is still alive, which is my mother, and her uncles

         18  at a location that ACS cannot locate her.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay, thank

         20  you.

         21                 MS. HIKMAH: We are talking about the

         22  system is also advocating perhaps, even though she

         23  was released by the McMahan Services for Children,

         24  she was released, still to be monitored, supervised,

         25  and harassed. I must say the reason why my
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          2  granddaughter was in my custody, because my daughter

          3  had received a five-year scholarship for Maramount

          4  College (phonetic) to become a doctor. They have

          5  destroyed her dreams. The whole time she was in

          6  litigation in Family Court, she missed finals, tests

          7  and ultimately has withdrawn from college from the

          8  emotional trauma that my daughter and my

          9  granddaughter have undergone.

         10                 Not to say, as a grandmother who has

         11  fulfilled the obligations with two special

         12  interests, one as the grandmother and one as a

         13  disabled woman who is protected under the federal

         14  law, the Disabilities Act, to endure this type of

         15  harassment and abuse and the violation of human

         16  rights that ACS, and the City, have done by the use

         17  of the Police Department. I could have been the next

         18  Elinor Bumpers. If it wasn't for my grandchild, I

         19  would have gone down and lost my life, because there

         20  was no warrant and no reason for them to enter into

         21  a registered religious sanctuary of the State of New

         22  York, which is where my home is.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you for

         24  sharing this story with us as far as you could. And,

         25  again, I understand that you can't say any more. We
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          2  hope that you are able to protect your rights with

          3  the litigation.

          4                 Thank you, both.

          5                 Our next witnesses will be Bob Knox,

          6  Janice Schindler and Aramintha Grant.

          7                 And then this set of witnesses will

          8  be followed by Sharonne Salaam, People United for

          9  Children, and several I think there are four or five

         10  people with them. So you can be ready.

         11                 All right this is a group of three,

         12  correct?

         13                 MS. GRANT: Just two.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Just two,

         15  okay.

         16                 MR. KNOX: My name is Bob Knox, and I

         17  am the President of the New York City Chapter of the

         18  Association of Black Social Workers, and I would

         19  like to thank all of you for coming uptown to hear

         20  what we have to say in terms of the dilemmas.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Sir, I need to

         22  just interrupt you. If you can just sit back a

         23  minute, raise your right hand.

         24                 Do you swear or affirm the testimony

         25  you are about to give is the truth? And if it is,
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          2  say I do.

          3                 MR. KNOX: I do.

          4                 MR. GRANT: I do.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: And if each of

          6  you would tell us your name for the record first.

          7                 MS. GRANT: I am Aramintha Grant.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

          9                 MR. KNOX: And I am Bob Knox.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay. And if

         11  you would now give us your statement.

         12                 MR. KNOX: Okay, we will be as concise

         13  as possible.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Great.

         15                 MR. KNOX: One of the things that I am

         16  concerned about is the fact that I have been running

         17  all over the place, going into all the types of

         18  testimonies and hearings, probably for the last ten

         19  years, and one of the main concerns that we have as

         20  an organization, that many of these concerns have

         21  not been addressed, and that is not to say that some

         22  elected officials have not tried to do this.

         23                 I especially thank Brother Perkins,

         24  because of the work that he has done, not only with

         25  this Committee but with other committees that he is
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          2  a part of.

          3                 Like I was about to say, we hope that

          4  our voices are not falling on deaf ears. We hope

          5  that many of the suffering that we have suffered in

          6  this community can end. It is a simple process as

          7  far as we can see it. We have been here for 31

          8  years, and there seems to be a lot of talk and a lot

          9  of statements, but very little action.

         10                 We feel that this Administration has

         11  not been sincere in its approach to deal with the

         12  problems of the black community. And I can say that

         13  also, as far as I know, there haven't been sincere

         14  with the white community. So, it's a two-way street.

         15                 I am going to introduce Aramintha

         16  Grant, who is the vice president, and who will deal

         17  succinctly with some parts that we hope will fall on

         18  ears that will be responsive. Like I said, I have

         19  been all over the place, I feel like I am a beehive

         20  trying to spread pollen, and I hope the pollen we

         21  spread today will bring us some fruition.

         22                 At this time I would like to

         23  introduce our vice president, Ms. Aramintha Grant.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

         25                 MS. GRANT: Thank you.
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          2                 I am very pleased to be here today

          3  and I am hoping that, and I think it will be

          4  complimentary to certainly Ms. Blake and this other

          5  young lady that was here, and the young man that was

          6  here, they cite some of the issues that we see with

          7  the foster care system.

          8                 As you know, I am 2nd vice president

          9  of the New York City Chapter of the National

         10  Association of Black Social Workers, and I just want

         11  to share with you some of our recommendations for

         12  changes in the foster care system.

         13                 The current practices and policies of

         14  foster care, in foster care, pose a serious threat

         15  to the structure and function of families in the

         16  black community. The system is wrought with racism

         17  and inequity and such has been the case since the

         18  Wilder Decree which sought to correct the glaring

         19  inequities in the placement of black children in

         20  foster care.

         21                 In 1977, the Wilder Decree stipulated

         22  that all children should be placed in homes on a

         23  first come, first served basis. Black children then

         24  and now were and are relegated to the most poorly

         25  furnished, poorly equipped foster care facilities.
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          2                 Unfortunately, the Children's Rights

          3  Project which fought so valiantly for the courts to

          4  bring change essentially was unable to make a dent

          5  in the rigid system of segregation, which prevails

          6  to this moment.

          7                 We have the testimony of those who

          8  work inside the system to let us know that this is

          9  the case. Actually, the system has grown worse over

         10  this 22-year period.

         11                 L. Trevor Grant was the author of The

         12  Politicization of Foster Care in New York City and

         13  former director of group homes in the Bronx shares

         14  the following statistical data on race and placement

         15  in foster care:

         16                 "White children in foster care have

         17  decreased from 40 percent in 1960 to five percent in

         18  1994.

         19                 Hispanic children have fluctuated

         20  from 20 percent in 1960, to 25 percent in 1994.

         21                 Black children have increased

         22  dramatically from 38 percent in 1960, to 70 percent

         23  in 1994.

         24                 Yet, the statistics from the National

         25  Clearinghouse on Child Abuse and Neglect revealed in
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          2  its fact sheet that more than 53 percent of all

          3  victims of child abuse and neglect were white in

          4  1996, and only 27 percent were black. Eleven percent

          5  were Hispanic.

          6                 One must conclude that a great racial

          7  disparity exists in the system when one considers

          8  the actual victims of child abuse and neglect versus

          9  placement in foster care.

         10                 Beyond the racial factor in foster

         11  care placement, socioeconomic factors play a role.

         12  The globalization of manufacturing jobs, the

         13  disappearance of unskilled jobs, the many mergers

         14  which result in job loss, the drug and AIDS

         15  epidemics are key stresses for young families

         16  today.

         17                 Most importantly, with the

         18  disappearance of major income-producing concerns to

         19  countries abroad, the business community here

         20  scurries around and seizes government functions and

         21  programs to make money.

         22                 Debra Jasper and Timothy Miller

         23  writing in the Dayton Daily reported on one such

         24  business entity called SAFY, Specialized

         25  Alternatives for Youth. It aims to become the
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          2  McDonald's of foster care. It started in 1983 with a

          3  small budget and a dozen caseworkers. Today the

          4  agency has more than 225 employees nationwide and

          5  $22 million in revenues.

          6                 So there are racial and economic

          7  forces driving and feeding the crisis in foster

          8  care. And as further proof, we note that 85 or more

          9  percent of the cases referred to child protective

         10  agencies are unfounded.

         11                 Ultimately, the latter statistic

         12  shows that many families are being charged with

         13  child abuse and neglect and many children are being

         14  placed where the situation is unwarranted and in the

         15  process the rights of parents are being trampled.

         16                 We see that this situation might be

         17  partly remedied in New York with changes in the

         18  Family Court Act which center on preliminary actions

         19  taken to remove children.

         20                 The Family Court act describes three

         21  situations under which a child can be removed from

         22  the home in sections 1021, 1022 and 1024.

         23                 Under section 1021, ACS removes the

         24  child or children with written consent of the

         25  parent.
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          2                 Many parents are probably not aware

          3  at the point where written consent is given that

          4  such action may result in finding the parent guilty

          5  as charged and could ultimately result in a

          6  termination of their parental rights.

          7                 This possibility is spelled out in

          8  section 1051 of the Act.

          9                 But there is no indication that

         10  parents are advised of this initially by the ACS

         11  worker. To the contrary, section 424 (10), title 6,

         12  of the Social Services Law actually encourages the

         13  worker to coerce the parent to plead guilty with a

         14  threat of a court referral in the following words:

         15                 "10. Based on the investigation and

         16  evaluation conducted pursuant to this title, (the

         17  worker should) offer to the family of any child

         18  believed to be suffering from abuse or maltreatment

         19  such services for its acceptance or refusal,

         20  provided, however, that prior to offering such

         21  services to a family, explain that it has no legal

         22  authority to compel such family to receive said

         23  services, but may inform the family of the

         24  obligations and authority of the child protective

         25  service to petition of the Family Court for a
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          2  determination that a child is in need of care and

          3  protection,".

          4                 Section 1022 describes the situation

          5  where it is believed that the child faces imminent

          6  danger, the parent refuses consent to the removal of

          7  the child or is not present at the time of removal

          8  and a Court Order is sought.

          9                 In such a situation, the act

         10  indicates that the agency should inform the parent

         11  or caretaker of its intent to apply for a Court

         12  Order to remove the child, of the date and time that

         13  the application for a Court Order will be made, of

         14  the address of the court where the application will

         15  be made and o the right of the parent to be present

         16  at the application of any hearing that is held on it

         17  and to be represented by counsel.

         18                 The court in this situation is

         19  totally dependent upon the word of the agency that

         20  the parent or caretaker has been informed of the

         21  details of the application procedure.

         22                 If the worker has not given the

         23  parent these instructions, then his or her rights at

         24  this juncture in the legal process have been

         25  abrogated and the court may unknowingly become a

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            61

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  collaborator in the process.

          3                 Far more serious is the next step in

          4  the process which involves the removal of the child.

          5  The Act says that the notice of the Court Order

          6  should be personally delivered to the parent or

          7  caretaker of if the parent is absent, the notice

          8  should be affixed to the door of his residence and

          9  mailed within 24 hours of the removal of the child.

         10                 Section 1024 involves the removal of

         11  the child without Court Order when it is believed

         12  that the child faces imminent danger to his life or

         13  health. It may involve the entry of the police in

         14  this situation to affect the removal of the child.

         15                 This section further stipulates that

         16  coincident with the removal of the child that

         17  written notice should be given to the parent of his

         18  or her right to apply to the Family Court for the

         19  return of the child under Section 1028 of the Act

         20  along with the name, address and phone number of the

         21  person removing the child and the agency where the

         22  child is removed when the parent is absent, the

         23  notice is to be affixed to the door and mailed

         24  within 24 hours.

         25                 In both of these situations, i.e.,
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          2  sections 1022 and 1024, the court is totally

          3  dependent on the word of the agency that such

          4  notices have been either personally delivered and

          5  mailed. The problem with these proscribed procedures

          6  is that they do not constitute proof of service.

          7                 In other civil matters involving less

          8  significant disputes and claims, the plaintiff is

          9  required to produce proof of service. And yet, in a

         10  situation involving the possible loss of a family

         11  member, and what may amount to an illegal search and

         12  seizure due to improper notice, and what may involve

         13  the termination of parental rights, the smear and

         14  possible destruction of one's reputation and

         15  potential livelihood, there is no requirement for

         16  proof of service.

         17                 The failure to include this as a part

         18  of the court procedure to protect the rights of the

         19  parent has already wreaked havoc with parents and

         20  their children who are in the system.

         21                 I have personally seen where a parent

         22  was given a scribbled up piece of paper which was to

         23  represent a notice with only the name and number of

         24  the person and some message indicating that maybe a

         25  charge of abuse or neglect was being considered.
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          2                 The parent was tearing her hair out

          3  with worry and despair, wringing her hands, not

          4  knowing which way to turn. And because there is no

          5  proof of service there have been any number of

          6  findings at hearings without the parent being

          7  present because he or she was bot aware that a

          8  hearing was being held or in other instances,

          9  parents have been given late notice and have had

         10  insufficient time to prepare and present evidence,

         11  and in other instances, petitions have never been

         12  received by the parent. Conceivably, the parent's

         13  right to reconsideration and termination of the

         14  parental rights could occur because there is no

         15  proof of service.

         16                 We therefore urge you to modify the

         17  Family Court Act to require proof of service.

         18                 Further, we recommend that the Social

         19  Services Law be amended by advising the worker to

         20  explain the consequences of guilty pleas under

         21  section 1021 of the Family Court Act.

         22                 Beyond this, we recommend that a

         23  small pamphlet be written which will explain parents

         24  rights at every step in the legal process and be

         25  distributed to all with the initial notices, summons
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          2  and/or petitions.

          3                 The respondents in many situations

          4  are unable to obtain the desired counsel due to

          5  financial constraints. And court procedure is not

          6  generally a part of the general knowledge of the lay

          7  public.

          8                 Yet, given the knowledge, many would

          9  be able to defend themselves and protect their dye

         10  process rights and even if assigned counsel, having

         11  familiarity with court procedure would enable

         12  parents to better aid the assigned counsel with

         13  their defense.

         14                 Lastly, we urge legislative action

         15  for a greater appropriation of funds for preventive

         16  services to prevent placement where possible and

         17  speed the return of children to their families.

         18                 We also urge you to take action to

         19  assure that the multi-ethnic Placement Act is

         20  enforced and that kinship families be given initial

         21  and speedy consideration as an alternative to foster

         22  care and that legislative and judicial remedies be

         23  sought to remove discriminatory practices in the

         24  placement of black and Hispanic children in foster

         25  care.
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          2                 Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: The preventive

          4  services is something that we have, we made notes on

          5  that and all of this was valuable to us.

          6                 Thank you very much.

          7                 MS. GRANT: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay, the next

          9  set of witnesses is a panel of three people, I

         10  understand. I am going to turn over the chair to

         11  another Councilman Perkins for the next set of

         12  witnesses.

         13                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Thank you

         14  very much.

         15                 COUNSEL: Can you raise your right

         16  hands, please.

         17                 Do you swear or affirm that the

         18  testimony you are about to give is the truth, the

         19  whole truth and nothing but the truth.

         20                 MS. SALAAM: I do.

         21                 COUNSEL: Please state your name and

         22  affiliation for the record.

         23                 MS. SALAAM: My name is Sharonne

         24  Salaam and I am from People United for Children.

         25                 ACTING CHAIRPERSON PERKINS: Ms.
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          2  Salaam, would you bring the mic a little closer to

          3  you.

          4                 MS. SALAAM: My name is Sharonne

          5  Salaam, and I am with the People United for

          6  Children.

          7                 Many of the speakers who have

          8  gathered here tonight have already made wonderful

          9  comments and are hitting on all of the key topics,

         10  and I am just here, I am going to read off of a

         11  brief statement so that some of our other members

         12  can have an opportunity to speak.

         13                 I am going to be speaking on the

         14  adoption, and things that I feel need to be worked

         15  on to make this City really a truly safe place for

         16  children.

         17                 The Adoption and Safe Family Act

         18  makes it easier for good parents and bad parents to

         19  lose their children permanently. The ASFA makes it

         20  imperative that all parties follow laws already on

         21  the books pertaining to Family Court and that

         22  protocol be established for behavior within the

         23  Child Welfare System.

         24                 1) No child should be removed from a

         25  home without proper investigation that shows emanate
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          2  danger.

          3                 2) Parents should be notified when

          4  children are removed from outside of the home.

          5                 3) Like Criminal Court, parents

          6  should have the right to face their accuser or their

          7  accusers.

          8                 4) hearsay evidence should not be

          9  allowed in Criminal Court -- or excuse me -- Hearsay

         10  evidence that would not be allowed in Criminal Court

         11  should not be allowed in Family Court.

         12                 5) It should be a felony for

         13  Employees of the Court, the Administration for

         14  Children's Services, ACS, Contract agencies, et

         15  cetera, to knowingly make false statements to the

         16  Court.

         17                 The witch hunt climate to save

         18  children from would-be abusers by placing them in

         19  the care of ACS is a failure. Most children will

         20  never recover from the traumatic experience of being

         21  removed. Even when children are returned to their

         22  parents the scars remain.

         23                 This common reality is true for

         24  children who stay in foster care for two days, seven

         25  months or until the age of 18. Many of the 42,000
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          2  children in ACS care will move on to fuel the prison

          3  industry. At present, over 70 percent of the inmates

          4  have a relationship with the foster care system.

          5                 Ninety percent of children who are

          6  removed from home because of neglect find themselves

          7  sexually, mentally and/or physically abused in

          8  foster care with nowhere to turn, except to the

          9  agency that placed them. Neglect has become a

         10  catch-all word for ACS, which includes:

         11                 - parents living in shelters.

         12                 - Arguing with school because you

         13  don't want your child in Special Ed.

         14                 - Teaching your child at home.

         15                 - Parents making harsh demands on

         16  children by telling them to be home by 10:00 p.m.,

         17  in a time when there is no money in the budget to

         18  lock in runaways.

         19                 ACS is supposed to be a safer haven,

         20  not a prison. The problem is that there is no one

         21  watching the safe haven but the wolf.

         22                 Recently I received a call from a

         23  family. The child stated that he had made up lies on

         24  his parents in school. ACS policy is that children

         25  never lie about child abuse. At that time he didn't
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          2  know that and the rest of his siblings would be

          3  removed from the home.

          4                 In an interview he told the

          5  caseworker at ACS that he had lied. The ACS

          6  caseworker state that the child was afraid of the

          7  parents, controlled by the parents and should be

          8  place in a psychiatric facility for evaluation.

          9                 The parents should be prevented from

         10  visiting the child. ACS never investigates to see if

         11  the child liked. Thus, this is the beginning of a

         12  struggle to get back the family and their life.

         13                 We would not be having this dialogue

         14  if 74 percent of the children in foster care were

         15  not black and 23 percent were not Latino. If 1,000

         16  Jewish children were in foster care, we would be

         17  looking at a solution that would include as its

         18  goals preventing family destruction and making sure

         19  that those Jewish children who needed foster care

         20  got the best care. The best care would include a

         21  Child Welfare System that insures that children will

         22  be whole when they leave. No new studies would be

         23  done to waste more taxpayers' money in a failing

         24  system.

         25                 MS. SIBLEY: My name is Agatha Sibley.
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          2  I live in the housing projects. I have been there

          3  since 1989, for ten years. I had three grandchildren

          4  taken out of my house and I am still asking why.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Bring your mic

          6  a little closer.

          7                 MS. SIBLEY: I have done nothing, but

          8  take care of my grandchildren as a mother or a

          9  grandparent.

         10                 My little boy is 14 now, little girl

         11  is ten now, and the little boy who is seven, they

         12  have been in there since 25th July, 1997.

         13                 ACS came into my house because Harlem

         14  Hospital had been trying for about six years to give

         15  me help because I had a little girl who was

         16  hyperactive. They did not do it. And in the middle

         17  of the night, around 2:00 or 3:00 in the morning,

         18  this warden come and tell me that I don't need my

         19  grandchildren. I would have to get up, pull my

         20  clothes out of the closet, put them some place, the

         21  father would come there and take them. This went on

         22  for a number of years. From 1989 to 1997, ACS came

         23  to my house to hear me out. Instead of helping me,

         24  they left my house, went to the day care center,

         25  took my daughter's children out of the Beacon
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          2  Center, they didn't tell me, I didn't know where

          3  they were.

          4                 So, I called my daughter. I told my

          5  daughter and she came home. She kept calling the

          6  father, she found them there. Every time I would go

          7  to court they would postpone it. I don't know what

          8  happened, but I really would like to have my

          9  grandchildren back, because I have done nothing.

         10                 I feel like I have been discriminated

         11  against. I feel that I have lost all of my dignity.

         12                 I really don't know what to say. I

         13  would like to have my grandchildren back. I have

         14  done everything they told me to do. I went to

         15  parenting, and they told me that I would get them

         16  back in January, I didn't get them back in January.

         17                 I have to go to Brooklyn to meet my

         18  family, get the children and bring them back to my

         19  house. Then on Monday morning I have to take them

         20  back to Brooklyn. I would like to have my

         21  grandchildren home. They want to come home. They

         22  love me. The little boy said "mommy, I want to come

         23  home. I want to see my little sister." I have a good

         24  reputation at Harlem Hospital for being a good

         25  mother and a good grandparent. My grandchildren,
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          2  they never missed school, they never stayed after

          3  school. So, I would really like to know if somebody

          4  could help me find out why they took my

          5  grandchildren out.

          6                 Thank you very much.

          7                 MS. SHERMAN: Good evening. My name is

          8  Amanda Sherman. I am a grandmother, I have a

          9  granddaughter. My daughter left her with me on

         10  August the 15th, 1995, and she didn't come home. I

         11  was very upset. Several hours passed, I became

         12  worried. I wanted to know where was my child. I was

         13  nervous. I have already gotten custody of her son,

         14  two and a half years old. I was going through some

         15  crisis, I mean I just was shaking. I wanted to know

         16  where was my child, where was she?

         17                 The next day I called ACS and I spoke

         18  with a young lady by the name of Ms. Levine. She

         19  talked with me on the phone and she said she will

         20  help. So, she did call. She came over on the 16th

         21  and 17th, and I told her I just wanted to place my

         22  grandbaby until I find her, where was my daughter? I

         23  was very nervous. I was shaking, but it didn't have

         24  nothing to do with the baby. That was me, my nerves

         25  was bad. She was four months old at the time.
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          2                 Ms. Levine came and told me to take

          3  the baby to the police station and they will take it

          4  to place it in foster care, and I went with the

          5  social worker.

          6                 I heard from the social worker, her

          7  name was Ms. Birch. They were telling me that the

          8  baby was in a home, the baby was all right, and when

          9  I could come to see her. And I did go to see my

         10  grandson, and when I went to see my grandson, I went

         11  to this woman called Ms. Hughes, Elinor Hughes, and

         12  she wanted to adopt him, and I told her right there,

         13  this baby is not adoptable. I want my grandchild,

         14  where is my child? If I could help her get through a

         15  12 step program so that she would come out clean and

         16  get her baby. And she shook her head like she was on

         17  my side and everything. But we went before a judge,

         18  and when I went before a judge, I told him the same

         19  thing, how upset I was with my daughter, and I

         20  wanted her to go into a 12 step program. The judge

         21  said she agreed for her to go in, and I told her if

         22  my daughter did not go into the program, 12 step

         23  program, I wanted custody of my grandchild. And they

         24  just said okay.

         25                 As time went on I visited my
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          2  grandchild. I had visitation rights for my

          3  grandchild, and I was going faithfully twice a month

          4  to see her. And she was an infant at that time so

          5  she would cry when I would come there and try to

          6  hold her, but at the time I didn't know that the

          7  foster mother wasn't supposed to be in the room.

          8  Well, she was there, so quite naturally she had been

          9  with her, she would reach out and cry for her. I

         10  would still hold her and rock her, you know, try to

         11  pacify her.

         12                 So, the caseworker says to me, you

         13  better turn her over to the foster mother. So, after

         14  a few visits with my grandchild, I found out from

         15  different people that she is not supposed to be in

         16  there when I visit with my grandchild. So the next

         17  visit I called her up and I explained that to the

         18  caseworker, so they stopped letting her come. So,

         19  the baby would still cry, and I would rock her, then

         20  she would stop. One time she didn't stop and the

         21  caseworker said, you better call Ms. Hughes in so

         22  she will stop crying. I said, no, she will be all

         23  right. No, I better call her in. She called her in

         24  and put into the report that I said call the foster

         25  mother, because I can't stand this whining. And that
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          2  was a lie.

          3                 I have four children, eight

          4  grandchildren, one great grandchild, and crying

          5  doesn't upset me. I have been around children all of

          6  my life. This young caseworker, it got her upset to

          7  hear the baby cry, because it does not upset me. She

          8  is supposed to cry. And I went on, they told me one

          9  time that I could not visit because my daughter

         10  didn't want me to. That was another lie. My daughter

         11  was upset, sure, when I told her to try to get her

         12  life together. I said I am going to file for custody

         13  of the baby, but you know that. She said, yes, I

         14  know. So I said, you have to get it together.

         15                 I want her. She is my grandchild. She

         16  does not have to be with no foster mother, where

         17  everybody in the house is strangers. There is

         18  children that have parents that don't want them or

         19  they go off and nobody claims them, I can't

         20  understand that. I have been fighting for this child

         21  for three years now, three and a half years. I have

         22  pleaded with them, with the caseworker, with the

         23  lawyer for the agency, every one of them ignored me.

         24  We don't want to talk to you, you are not the

         25  planning person. Come to find out down the road in
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          2  their ACR report, which I didn't even know what that

          3  was, the reason when I found out about this is when

          4  I called an organization called People United For

          5  Children, run by Sharonne, and I was grateful for

          6  the information that they gave me. I needed some

          7  help. If they couldn't give me the help that I

          8  needed, give me back my baby. As simple as that. She

          9  don't have to be in no foster system. I have her

         10  brother, she has another sister, her older sister

         11  can't stand to go there because she breaks down and

         12  cries, why is she in there?

         13                 They have made false allegations, I

         14  have never said the things that they say. The

         15  caseworker that came to my house said I was going to

         16  shake the baby. At that time I just was overwhelmed

         17  and I needed to place this infant because I couldn't

         18  have her. When I took my grandson, I wound up losing

         19  my job, on welfare, where I never wanted to go, but

         20  I couldn't help it. I was a nightworker, I work at

         21  night.

         22                 I want my granddaughter, there is no

         23  reason for her to be there. The last time I was in

         24  the court room was June 11th, 1998, they had taken

         25  away my daughter's rights and they asked me, which I
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          2  said out of anger, I was so upset, and I was

          3  saddened. They asked me did I want to see my

          4  grandchild when she become adopted, I said no. But I

          5  didn't mean that. I just couldn't see her being

          6  adopted, and then the judge said that Ms. Hughes can

          7  adopt her, Ms. Hughes jumped up and hugged the

          8  lawyer from the agency like there was a party going

          9  on.

         10                 Then I have to go through this whole

         11  thing. That is my blood, I love her and I want her.

         12  There is no reason for her not to be with me. I want

         13  to go back into court and start trying to get my

         14  rights back and then I want my baby. I want her.

         15                 Thank you very much.

         16                 MS. REED: My name is Pat Reed. I live

         17  at 34 1 Riverdale, and I am a grandmother.

         18                 Personally I would like to thank the

         19  Council and the honorable Bill Perkins, and I would

         20  like to thank the People United For Children,

         21  because without them I wouldn't have known which way

         22  to go.

         23                 My story is, first I want to say that

         24  families make up America, and when you divide

         25  families, you divide the nation, and that is exactly

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            78

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  what is going on.

          3                 On November the 30th, the police and

          4  a caseworker came to my daughter's apartment. My

          5  daughter has had emotional problems since her dad

          6  died. He was the king and she was the princess.

          7  After he died she never quite got it together again.

          8  So, the people in the building I guess notified ACS

          9  that her hygiene wasn't as it should be or whatever,

         10  and she didn't answer any of their notices, I guess

         11  she was frightened. So, I happened to be there on

         12  November the 30th when they came. And they sent her

         13  to Harlem Hospital for some treatment, and they took

         14  my grandson, who was two years old, and they took

         15  him screaming and hollering because he had never

         16  been away from any of us at that time.

         17                 I am a registered nurse, I have been

         18  nursing for 27 years, I was there and the baby's

         19  Godfather was there, who works at Baer Sterns on

         20  Wall Street, and so the police even asked, they

         21  said, well, why don't you just give the grandson to

         22  the grandmother? They couldn't understand why they

         23  had to take the baby too. And the police even went

         24  out of their way because the caseworker's supervisor

         25  was there, and they talked to the caseworker's
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          2  supervisor and her supervisor but they still took my

          3  grandson away that day. There were no bruises, he

          4  wasn't malnourished or anything, but they took him.

          5                 The next day we went to court and I

          6  didn't get a chance to say anything, it was

          7  adjourned to that Friday, December the 4th, and that

          8  Friday, December the 4th, I took my minister,

          9  Reverend Eugene Carpenter, and at that time he had

         10  his hip, he had a total hip replacement, his hip was

         11  hurting and he was on a cane and he came anyway, and

         12  when we got to the court, Judge Colin said, well,

         13  the grandmother is here, the Godfather is here, the

         14  minister is here, I don't see any reason why that

         15  child had to be put in a foster care, so he said I

         16  want that child back in that grandmother's home by

         17  Tuesday, which was four days from then.

         18                 So Tuesday they took the child back

         19  to me. Well, when he came back he had been

         20  traumatized. He had lost weight. They said he had a

         21  little stomach virus, that is what they said, but he

         22  had diarrhea and he was frightened and the

         23  caseworker said when she brought him back home, he

         24  immediately went and started playing with one of his

         25  toys and she said boy he's a changed person. He was
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          2  like in a state of shock the six days that he had

          3  been in a foster home.

          4                 So, what has happened is, I come from

          5  a family in Columbus, Ohio, my dad died when I was

          6  two years old and my mother raised us and she put me

          7  and my sister and my brothers through college and my

          8  brother is a teacher, my sister is a social worker,

          9  and I am a nurse, and their kids have been to

         10  college, there will always be someone to take care

         11  of my grandson. There is no reason for him to be in

         12  foster care at all.

         13                 So, I went to court and my daughter

         14  and I agreed, I told her that as soon as the

         15  hospital said she was ready she could have him back,

         16  but I didn't want him in the foster care system. And

         17  I applied for custody of him and the trial is coming

         18  up March the 23rd, I am just frightened that they

         19  are going to fight me like they did December the

         20  4th, which is no reason to. I can take care of him.

         21  I am not asking for money or anything, I just want

         22  my grandson out of the foster care system. I can

         23  take care of him. I would never want any child to go

         24  through what he had to go through. A little

         25  two-year-old frightened to death, put in a group
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          2  home or wherever, they didn't even say where he

          3  went, and taken out of the arms of people who love

          4  him, and he was frightened to death. I would never

          5  want any child to have to go through that.

          6                 So, please pray for me, pray for all

          7  of these people who have children in the system.

          8  Thank you very much for listening.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Before we let

         10  you go, Council Member Watkins has a question.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: If you need

         12  help going to court, get in touch with any of us. It

         13  is very painful to sit and hear these stories. It is

         14  really painful, because this City and state are

         15  taking older children and building prisons, become a

         16  cottage industry, upstate New York, and the little

         17  ones who sometimes someone says fuel the prisons,

         18  because they do not always recognize kinship foster

         19  care rights.

         20                 I was so glad that you have this

         21  group, that you have an advocacy group for people.

         22  We need more of those and it is the kind of group

         23  that people tend to say when we give money to groups

         24  like yours, that Council members are giving pork.

         25  But I want to say for the record, and I hope people
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          2  hear us, that when we give money to these kinds of

          3  organizations, it is because nobody knows that you

          4  exist except your local people, and we feel that it

          5  is extremely important if you find out what you need

          6  to go to court. If a family like yours has a child

          7  taken away, I mean that scares the life out of me,

          8  because who then are they saying is capable of

          9  taking care of these children if they are taking

         10  them from grandparents who are willing and able to

         11  take care of them?

         12                 And I know this is a statement, but

         13  it is going in the record, there are those of us who

         14  are tired and angry about hearing that black

         15  families are not intact and are falling apart. It

         16  has been our tradition to care for our children and

         17  our own people, and someone, as you stated, in the

         18  family, in the extended family, has always been

         19  there.

         20                 If we need parenting help with those

         21  killed and so on, let's find a way to do it, but I

         22  am so glad to hear your story. And when I say glad,

         23  I am glad that you are exposing the injustices that

         24  are taking place. People have to hear this, because

         25  I don't understand how ACS cannot see in visitations

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            83

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  where children are literally being abused, they go

          3  backwards and forwards on business and then a child

          4  is dead, and yet they take children from families

          5  who can and will care for them and they have to

          6  fight to get them back. I don't understand that, and

          7  you need to keep speaking out.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you,

          9  Council member.

         10                 The next two witnesses are Renee

         11  Jackson and Irma Isaac.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Listen,

         13  folks. Let me just share with you, first of all, our

         14  deep appreciation for your participation. We are

         15  going to have to ask you to extend your patience,

         16  because there are other people who want to --

         17  everybody here has something very important for us

         18  for what we want to try to do to overcome some of

         19  these problems that are being presented to us. So,

         20  we are going to ask you to really, really be not

         21  only patient in terms of waiting, as opposed to

         22  leaving, but also we are going to start to have to

         23  deal with the clock because of our time constraints.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay, tell us

         25  your name?
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          2                 MS. JACKSON: Okay, I am Renee

          3  Jackson.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay, Renee.

          5  And you are part of the coordinating group of People

          6  United for Children?

          7                 MS. JACKSON: I am a group leader

          8  within the support group of People United For

          9  Children.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

         11                 MS. JACKSON: Okay?

         12                 Approximately two and a half years

         13  ago Sharonne and myself started to support the

         14  group. Being that I am a retired Probation office

         15  from Manhattan Family Court, some 20 years working

         16  there, Sharonne and I decided to form an important

         17  group for families of juveniles in the support

         18  system.

         19                 However, the people that started

         20  coming to the court room were people involved with

         21  ACS and the foster care system.  Our group, at this

         22  time the membership was approximately 99 percent of

         23  the people involved in ACS and the foster care

         24  system.

         25                 Now, I am going to be very brief. I
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          2  could speak on several issues, I could speak on

          3  genocide within the black community, I could speak

          4  on modern day slavery, when children are snatched

          5  out of the arms of their parents for resisting, I

          6  can speak on how they are handcuffed by the police

          7  and arrested, however, I am relinquishing all of my

          8  time to the victims. These are the victims.

          9                 The first person that will speak will

         10  be Denise Burgess.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay. Now, the

         12  three folks who have a story to tell, we need you to

         13  basically tell us the essence of the story, you

         14  know, so that we get the main points, because we are

         15  going to run out of time and we want to be fair to

         16  everyone, we want to hear from everyone.

         17                 You don't have to read your entire

         18  statement, that will become part of the record. Tell

         19  us what you really want us to know. Just like

         20  talking, folks. Tell us what we need to know about

         21  your situation.

         22                 What is your name?

         23                 MS. BURGESS: My name is Denise

         24  Burgess.

         25                 What you need to know about my
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          2  situation is that my children were illegally removed

          3  from me and my situation is a little bit different

          4  than most parents that are entering the system,

          5  because I had a stable home, I owned by own

          6  business. My children worked in activities such as

          7  swimming lessons, dance lessons, you name it, they

          8  were very active in their community.

          9                 However, due to the fact that a

         10  principal at one of their schools decided that she

         11  wanted to call in a report in which I was very

         12  active as a PTA member and the fundraising committee

         13  after school, so it did come as a surprise to me

         14  when the call came through October 30th of 1997 when

         15  the ACM caseworkers came to my home to tell me that

         16  I had burned my child on her arm, when actually my

         17  daughter had fallen in the school, in the schoolyard

         18  while playing.

         19                 They turned this story around and it

         20  came back ten days later, they snatched my children

         21  out of my home. As of this date I am still going

         22  through court. No one has come forth to state that I

         23  have done anything to my children. No one.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: How many

         25  children do you have?
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          2                 MS. BURGESS: I have four children.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: You had all

          4  four of them taken out?

          5                 MS. BURGESS: All four were taken out.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: They are all

          7  in foster care?

          8                 MS. BURGESS: No, not now. I will get

          9  to that in a minute.

         10                 My family has been there from the

         11  very beginning trying to get my children out and so

         12  have I, since ACS cannot prove the allegations,

         13  regarding my children. There is no history of abuse

         14  in my home or anything. ACS did not investigate any

         15  of the activity programs that my children were in at

         16  all.

         17                 We have a judge, his name is Harold

         18  J. Linch, who has been unnecessarily harsh on me and

         19  also has told me that he believes ACS, everything

         20  that they are saying about me.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: The problem is

         22  you cannot simply go through the entire --

         23                 MS. BURGESS: I am not going through

         24  the entire thing. I am just trying to point out

         25  different things, because I am going to get to a few
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          2  brief recommendations that I have.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Right, good.

          4                 MS. BURGESS: This whole thing could

          5  be stopped, or at least get some kind of balance

          6  between the parents and the --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Right, make

          8  the point that we can all learn from. That is

          9  exactly what I was going to say.

         10                 We don't want to jeopardize any of

         11  your legal rights, that is the only reason.

         12                 MS. BURGESS: Well, the whole City

         13  knows about my case.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

         15                 MS. BURGESS: They all know about my

         16  situation, so I don't have any shame on my end.

         17                 One of the things is that the judge

         18  has been unncessarily harsh. I heard one of the

         19  speakers speak about negotiating with the other

         20  politicians in the City. I am from the Bronx, I have

         21  gone to Assemblymembers Nievas, Bronx Borough

         22  President Fernando Ferrer, also Senator Ethan

         23  Gonzalez, they each have told me they do not have

         24  judiciary control over what ACS does, the judiciary

         25  body, I may have gotten it a little mixed up. But
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          2  anyway, they couldn't help me.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: The problem is

          4  because you are in court, in other words there is

          5  only certain information, some limits as to what

          6  they can do because you have an active case.

          7                 MR. BURGESS: No. I went there to

          8  explain to them, to let them know that something

          9  strange is going on when ACS can come into your

         10  home, have these people come into my home.

         11                 And let me add one other thing,

         12  another thing about these police that are coming

         13  into our home. The police were in my home at 5:00 in

         14  the morning. Woke me and my family up. We were due

         15  to go to the ballet the next day, okay? Had me

         16  handcuffed on my knees in my lobby, in front of my

         17  children while they were being led. They could knock

         18  me out while they tried to take my 14-month-old baby

         19  away from me, had my daughter, who was 16 at the

         20  time, she was an asthmatic, they told her, because

         21  she was taking too long, they beat my daughter up,

         22  okay?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I have to cut

         24  you off. Let me advise you that you may need legal

         25  counsel. We do not necessarily want you to go
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          2  through this particular line of presentation. It may

          3  not be in your interest.

          4                 Believe me, we came here to listen to

          5  everyone, I am as wide open, and the members can

          6  tell you, about these issues, I am trying to be

          7  helpful, but I do know a little bit about the

          8  system.

          9                 Let me ask you some questions, try to

         10  get your case on the record and then we will take

         11  the others.

         12                 There are four children involved.

         13                 MS. BURGESS: They sexually abused,

         14  physically abused, and one home the foster parent

         15  had no Con Edison in her home.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: How many are

         17  still in foster care?

         18                 MS. BURGESS: Two have recently gone

         19  to a relative. One lives with her baby, my older

         20  daughter lives with her baby and her grandmother,

         21  which is the other grandmother other than myself,

         22  and because my ten-year-old, she is in a psychiatric

         23  facility medicated because she was telling me about

         24  the foster parent who had no Con Edison, so as the

         25  kinds of conspiracy, they put my daughter in the
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          2  hospital, they said there were hallucinations and a

          3  firestarter and -- what do you call it, suicidal.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay. So, the

          5  gist of this terrible, terrible tragedy is how much

          6  suffering they did once pulled from the home.

          7                 MS. BURGESS: Yes --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I got it. I

          9  got it. Let us hear from the next person.

         10                 MS. BURGESS: Yes, but let me tell you

         11  a recommendation, what you need to do.

         12                 One of the things that has been said,

         13  when ACS comes knocking at your door, they don't

         14  tell you what your rights are. They don't give you

         15  anything. I feel that a booklet should come with

         16  them, you know, so you know what you are faced with,

         17  what you need to do.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Like a bill of

         19  rights.

         20                 MS. BURGESS: Yes. And then some kind

         21  of form should accompany them, so they could take

         22  your statement or you could write your own statement

         23  down. You get a copy and they get a copy. Because

         24  this way it takes away all of that misrepresentation

         25  that goes on inside that court room. You get a copy

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            92

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  and they get a copy, because nothing they said in

          3  the courtroom has ever been true in my case -

          4  nothing.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay, that's

          6  two things. Go ahead.

          7                 MS. BURGESS: I just wanted to let you

          8  know that the judge told the ACS people to go bring

          9  me back on this person. Go out and find something on

         10  her, which they still haven't been able to come up

         11  with anything on me.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Right. Well,

         13  let's hope it works out. They were two good

         14  suggestions.

         15                 Next. Again, folks, I have explained,

         16  we have a limited time here. We have wonderful folks

         17  to host us but we are going to rush everyone. Please

         18  do not be insulted, it is so we can hear everyone.

         19  We have a clock here, we will say a couple of

         20  minutes a piece, and now I have to tell you that I

         21  have to be a little tough, but it's for a good

         22  reason.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: Let me just

         24  say, we are technically -- we cannot stay here any

         25  longer than 9:00.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Next, Ma'am?

          3  Your name?

          4                 MS. DUPONT: My name is Dorothy

          5  Dupont.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: And your

          7  situation?

          8                 MS. DUPONT: Okay, my daughter was

          9  removed when she was a year and a half. The

         10  caseworkers started when she was an infant. I went

         11  to court on a particular day and the judge

         12  questioned me concerning a matter that did not

         13  pertain to Family Court and I explained to the judge

         14  let's discuss why we are here and perhaps we can go

         15  back later and discuss what you want to discuss. She

         16  became irate and demanded me into a hospital

         17  psychiatric ward.

         18                 I made several calls, one in the

         19  hospital under the care of the psychiatric ward, and

         20  it was before my due date. We got to the court, they

         21  already had the piece of paper for me to sign which

         22  was blank. My 18B attorney was not present. I signed

         23  a form, later they presented the form as a petition

         24  and filled in the information that they wanted to

         25  fill in.
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          2                 This has been going on since 1985 to

          3  now. At present I am in a court of appeal for my

          4  termination of my parental rights. While I was in

          5  Family Court under the judges, I had been evaluated

          6  numerous times by the Family Court psychiatrist.  On

          7  several occasions on psychiatrist stood in for

          8  another psychiatrist and gave testimony for the

          9  other psychiatrist. I considered that wrong. This

         10  was not the person that I had before for the

         11  evaluation who gave testimony.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: So, in your

         13  case one child?

         14                 MS. DUPONT: One child.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Was taken from

         16  you and after the court case, which appear to have

         17  some fairness issues, your parental rights were

         18  terminated and you're appealing?

         19                 MS. DUPONT: I am appealing it.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: You have some

         21  legal counsel, or are you doing this all on your

         22  own?

         23                 MS. DUPONT: Well, the appellate court

         24  assigned me an attorney.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.
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          2                 Is there any recommendations you can

          3  make based on your experience?

          4                 As tragic as it is, is there any

          5  recommendations you can give, or you keep thinking,

          6  well, why didn't they do this? Like this woman who

          7  went before you gave suggestions, do you have any?

          8                 MS. DUPONT: Recommendations as to

          9  having cameras in the courts.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay. We are

         11  making notes of all of these and we will have staff

         12  evaluate them.

         13                 In other words, let a little sun

         14  shine in on the proceeding so they can't take

         15  advantage of you or something like that. Okay, thank

         16  you.

         17                 Now we are going to have to get to

         18  the next person.

         19                 MS. ISAAC: Good evening, everyone.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: And your name

         21  is?

         22                 MS. ISAAC: Irma Isaac.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

         24                 MS. ISAAC: And I am here on behalf of

         25  my granddaughters.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: You

          3  granddaughter?

          4                 MS. ISAAC: Two granddaughters.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Two

          6  granddaughters were taken?

          7                 MS. ISAAC: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: You were

          9  taking care of your two granddaughters?

         10                 MS. ISAAC: I and my husband had been

         11  taking care of my granddaughters since the age of

         12  three and four. They are now 14 and 15.

         13                 My oldest granddaughter, age 13 at

         14  the time, was being treated at New York State

         15  Psychiatric Institute for clinical depression.

         16                 On one of her days on her day visits

         17  she told the worker there, the doctors there that

         18  she had been sexually abused by her 63-year-old

         19  grandfather. ACS was called in, my granddaughter was

         20  taken to the hospital where she was being treated

         21  for suicide ideations.

         22                 ACS came to my home on the 19th of

         23  September, ACS came to my home on the 22nd of

         24  September and did an investigation and told me that

         25  they would get back to me. And they did get back to
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          2  me a few days later asking me to take my younger

          3  granddaughter to have a physical. I did that and it

          4  was told that she was not sexually abused.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

          6                 MS. ISAAC: And I can say that I am a

          7  very caring grandparent and I am very attentive to

          8  my grandchildren's needs.

          9                 And also --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Did they take

         11  them?

         12                 MS. ISAAC: Yes, my children were

         13  removed.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: And have you

         15  since gotten them back?

         16                 MS. ISAAC: I have not gotten them

         17  back, and I have been to parenting classes, I have

         18  been everywhere that they have -- I have been

         19  counseling, I have been everywhere that they said

         20  that I had to go. I did everything that they said

         21  that I had to do.

         22                 So, it has been 14 months and my

         23  children --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: They are in

         25  foster care.
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          2                 MS. ISAAC: They are in the system and

          3  I think that an fraternal unjustice has been done to

          4  me and my family and I would like this resolved. I

          5  would like to have something done very soon, because

          6  this is tearing the family apart. I don't know about

          7  the other races, but I know my race and this is an

          8  awful, awful situation. When children are being

          9  taken from their homes without a proper

         10  investigation it is very unsafe.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Well, we thank

         12  you for what has become, obviously already tonight,

         13  a common theme, immediate and quick removal, often

         14  when a grandmother or a grandfather is involved,

         15  that is what we have heard a lot about tonight. What

         16  you talked about is shocking and sad and we are all

         17  reacting here. Again, all of this helps to

         18  contribute to some of the work that we will try to

         19  do, while it may not affect any one individual case,

         20  the idea is to try to make changes to protect

         21  everyone.

         22                 I have to say, sir, at the moment you

         23  are not on the list. I am going to bring the next

         24  panel up. I didn't know you were with us. Did you

         25  fill out a card?
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          2                 MR. McGinneus: Tobin McGinneus.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Did you fill

          4  out a card?

          5                 MR. McGINNEUS: Yes, I did.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay, don't

          7  leave, we will get you back up here.

          8                 MR. McGINNEUS: Okay.

          9                 MS. BURGESS: There are two quick

         10  recommendations that I forgot to add.

         11                 First of all, the relative should be

         12  the first and primary one for placement for

         13  children. There should be no strangers involved in

         14  your child's life, unless there is no relative that

         15  will come forth.

         16                 And one other thing, an oversight

         17  committee for this ACM (sic) agency and the foster

         18  care agency because parents sometimes don't know

         19  where to go.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Well, that is

         21  not 100 percent true, I have got one. That is what

         22  we do. We are oversight over ACS.

         23                 While it is not a case-by-case

         24  review, like other structures like the CCRB, that is

         25  something someone earlier said and it may be a good
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          2  thing. I meant in general and I don't mean to at all

          3  suggest that could have helped any one case. In

          4  general that is why we are doing the hearing. That

          5  is why we do the work we do. That is why we dedicate

          6  so much time to this, of all of the Committee work

          7  perhaps this is sometimes the most draining because

          8  it is about everyone's life, it is about children,

          9  it is about a system that is overburdened, it is

         10  about an unfair system, it is about the horror

         11  stories that you all lived through, and while it is

         12  not about an individual case review, that's not our

         13  job, it is about trying to change the system for

         14  your kids, but in general when I say you I mean all

         15  of our children. So, in that there is a little bit

         16  of hope that we are doing some of this work, and

         17  granted, I understand it doesn't help in any one

         18  part. But I want you to know that by you guys

         19  publicly talking about it, it helps us do our job to

         20  try to change the system so that it doesn't happen

         21  again to more and more children. So that is why your

         22  time is valuable and your contribution is real.

         23                 Thank you, all.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: The idea that

         25  you just gave about having some sort of oversight of
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          2  that agency on a case-by-case basis is something

          3  that we will look at.

          4                 This particular committee doesn't do

          5  a case-by-case basis. We look at the agency, find

          6  out what is wrong with it, as for the

          7  recommendations you made, and then we try to make

          8  those recommendations into law, into some procedural

          9  practice. The recommendations that you made, which

         10  is it needs to be some kind of oversight, like a

         11  Civilian Complaint Review Board, that is what we

         12  will put into our -- that will be taken into

         13  consideration.

         14                 MS. BURGESS: And also it should

         15  include --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: But we can't

         17  --

         18                 MS. BURGESS: -- Because all of these

         19  people have a conspiracy going on, and all of you

         20  need to really look into these agencies and listen

         21  to what we are saying because you all are not paying

         22  attention to us.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER PERKINS: We are here.

         24  We are here to respond to your requests. And we are

         25  having a hearing, it is not fair to say we are not
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          2  being attentive. Everything you are saying has been

          3  recorded, so even though someone may not hear what

          4  you are saying, everything you say is being

          5  recorded. So, it is not fair to suggest that this

          6  Committee is not interested in what you are doing,

          7  there is no other reason for us to be here. We are

          8  here because of your interests.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Now, in which

         10  ever order you prefer begin. Present your testimony,

         11  we ask you to self edit so that we can hear

         12  everyone. We are doing this under difficult

         13  circumstances, we are trying. It is such an

         14  important issue we want to give as many people as

         15  possible a chance, and if it ends tonight and we

         16  don't hear from everyone, and Council Member Linares

         17  wants more sessions, there will be more sessions.  I

         18  do as many as it takes to try to get the sum

         19  concrete, positive helpful solutions, helpful

         20  suggestions.

         21                 We are not totally in control of

         22  this, it is Mayoral agencies, but we are there to

         23  try to make a difference.

         24                 Okay, who is first?

         25                 MS. GIBBS: Good afternoon, my name is
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          2  Joan Gibbs and I am the General Counsel for the

          3  Center for Law and Social Justice at Medgar Evers

          4  College.

          5                 The Center for Law and Social Justice

          6  is a department in the School of Continuing

          7  Education and External Programs at Medgar Evers, and

          8  we have various projects.  Actually, Dottie Conway,

          9  to my left, is the Director of one of our projects,

         10  the Child Welfare Action Center.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

         12                 MS. GIBBS: Earlier this month, and

         13  you probably read about it, the Center for Law and

         14  Social Justice filed a lawsuit against ACS, the

         15  Mayor, Nicholas Scoppetta and the City of New York

         16  alleging that the ACS policies with respect to

         17  removing children from their parents were violative

         18  of the due process clause, the Equal Protection

         19  clause, among other things. We think it violates the

         20  State Constitution Provisions applied to the needy.

         21                 Several of our clients in this

         22  lawsuit have already spoken, so I am not going to

         23  repeat what they have said. I also think that the

         24  time, maximum time should be allowed to the parents,

         25  instead of experts or advocates.
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          2                 So, basically what I want to do is

          3  share with you three beginning recommendations that

          4  we have.

          5                 The first is that we believe that

          6  this body and the City Council should call upon the

          7  Administration for Children's Services to rescind

          8  its policy essentially of when in doubt, move them

          9  out. We believe this is across the board advocation

         10  of this policy, it is a violation of the due process

         11  clause.

         12                 In other words, parents, unlike

         13  criminal defendants, as has been said here before

         14  this afternoon, are presumed guilty until they have

         15  proved themselves innocent. This is a direct

         16  violation of the Constitution's guarantee of equal

         17  due process.

         18                 The second is that -- and this was

         19  also suggested I think by Judge Burstein, that you

         20  call upon ACS to provide all parents or guardians

         21  whose children are removed from their custody, with

         22  a written statement informing them of allegations

         23  against them, their rights of the Family Court for

         24  returning their children, the name, title,

         25  organization, address and telephone number of the
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          2  person removing the child; the name and telephone

          3  number of the person to be contacted for visits with

          4  the child.

          5                 Actually, the state law requires

          6  this, but the Administration For Children's Services

          7  doesn't feel there is a need to do this, instead

          8  leaves sheets of paper, notes scattered about. They

          9  should have a form and it should be given to every

         10  parent.

         11                 The third suggestion, and this is the

         12  one we feel strongly about, is that this body join

         13  with us and others to call upon the City to

         14  establish an independent City or state agency

         15  dedicated exclusively to defense of parents, and

         16  child neglect and abuse proceedings.

         17                 We think it is deplorable that

         18  parents who cannot afford lawyers are relegated to

         19  be represented by 18B attorneys who have none of the

         20  institutional resources of the Juvenile Rights

         21  Division or ACS. They have no supervisors, they have

         22  not social workers, no investigators, no translators

         23  or any of those things, and the only way that this

         24  gap in representation, which is really what it is, a

         25  gap in representation, if the City establishes an
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          2  agency that is time and devoted to parents.

          3                 We also want to say, a lot of people

          4  think about how much these lawyers are being paid,

          5  we think that is a factor in it, and perhaps they

          6  should be given a raise. But the real factor is that

          7  they are outgunned by ACS and the Juvenile Rights

          8  Division.

          9                 Finally, we want to call your

         10  attention to the fact that the federal government

         11  has passed an act, Adoption Safe Families Act of

         12  1997, which will make it also speed up terminations

         13  of parental rights. We think that this has put this

         14  matter on the front burner of all problems in the

         15  City, because if this legislation goes through, when

         16  the state begins to adopt this compassion

         17  legislation, parents in the City are going to be at

         18  risk of losing their children permanently because of

         19  the fact they are without representation, without

         20  support.

         21                 I want to thank this body for holding

         22  these hearings. I hope that this is not just another

         23  exercise in fact gathering, and that you will in

         24  fact do something about it.

         25                 Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: It did pass

          3  already in Albany.

          4                 Next.

          5                 MS. CONWAY: Good evening, my name is

          6  Dottie Conway. I am the Director of the Child

          7  Welfare Action Center, we are a funded project at

          8  the Center for Law and Social Justice.

          9                 I am going to be speaking on behalf

         10  of parents of the City who have had their children

         11  taken from them and put in foster care.

         12                 Now, there are a number of problems

         13  that led to the pain and separation of families.

         14  Among them is the Administration for Children's

         15  Services that have no commitment and no respect for

         16  the very families it is charged with protecting.

         17                 For example, why is it that very

         18  often parents receive no offer services, no

         19  information as to why their kids are being taken, no

         20  information as to how to get their kids back, and

         21  little, if any, information about what their rights

         22  are?

         23                 And why is it that parents are

         24  excluded from the planning process for getting their

         25  children back when they have a right to it?
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          2                 ACS and foster care caseworkers

          3  continue to ignore cultural differences. The sad

          4  truth is that many of the Administration for

          5  Children Services' policies go against the family.

          6                 This is one of the leading reasons as

          7  to why child removals in the City have escalated at

          8  an alarming rate with 55 percent increase in the

          9  past three years alone. The vast majority of

         10  families have not received preventive support, like

         11  housing subsidies, incomes support, child care

         12  subsidies or drug treatment, but as the current

         13  system and policies that are in place now, many

         14  children and families are being hurt, and there are

         15  a number of things that the City Council can do.

         16  Joan mentioned them and I am just going to

         17  reiterate.

         18                 First of all, preventive services

         19  like the family rehabilitation programs and its drug

         20  treatment and home components, also the elimination

         21  of regulatory obstacles to provisions. Mike also

         22  mentioned that, and exception to police 8314, which

         23  prevents parents and children from being reunified

         24  on a timely basis.

         25                 But most importantly, changes have to
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          2  occur in the court room where parents are routinely

          3  railroaded by a powerful Family Court system where

          4  they are ill-prepared and very poorly represented.

          5  That is why it is only 1.6 percent of parent when

          6  their cases are in Family Court, that is deplorable,

          7  1.6 percent.

          8                 What we need to do is create a legal

          9  defense body to protect the interests of parents in

         10  Family Court, one that is fully funded, similar to

         11  Legal Aid Juvenile rights Division.

         12                 That is a very viable option and we

         13  really would like to see the City Council devote its

         14  resources towards that end.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         16                 MR. COURTNEY: My name is John

         17  Courtney. I am a contributing editor to the Child

         18  Welfare Watch, as well as being a research associate

         19  at Hunter College at the Center for the Study of

         20  Family Policy.

         21                 Much of what I have included in my

         22  testimony you have, I am certainly not going to

         23  repeat it, but I think if forms the backdrop for

         24  many of the concerns, the individual stories that we

         25  have heard this evening about the horrendous
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          2  treatment of the families of New York City,

          3  primarily African-American and Latino families have

          4  received by ACS.

          5                 I was asked to speak about kinship

          6  care, which was mentioned on several incidents

          7  today, kinship care is unfortunately a dying form of

          8  care within New York City. When Commissioner Robert

          9  Little and other administrators were in charge,

         10  kinship foster care was used as an appropriate

         11  alternative to removals and families, extended

         12  families were considered as the first option.

         13                 This was not only a policy issue, it

         14  is also law. There are citations in my testimony

         15  where state law requires that ACS look to extended

         16  family members once the decision is made to remove

         17  children from their parents. This is not done.

         18                 The last full year that we have data

         19  for, 1997, less than ten percent of all placements

         20  made by ACS were placed with kinship family members,

         21  8.8 percent. This was a drop from over 15 percent

         22  several years before, the number of children in

         23  kinship care in New York City is dropping

         24  dramatically.

         25                 The removal issue that we have heard
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          2  about today is also documented, and part of what I

          3  am saying here is to hopefully allow Council members

          4  to be able to question Commissioner Scoppetta and

          5  other members of ACS when they come before you,

          6  particularly around this time of budget.

          7                 I know that Council Member Perkins

          8  has been very influential in raising the issue of

          9  additional police that is included in the Mayor's

         10  budget, and why do we need more police? Why do we

         11  need more police to do the things they have been

         12  doing to the communities recently? I think that ACS

         13  also needs to be questioned very closely about how

         14  they are spending the hundreds of millions of

         15  dollars that have been allocated in City funds, as

         16  well as matching state and federal funds.

         17                 Removal numbers are included in

         18  there. As Dottie Conway had said, in just three

         19  brief years, the number of children has increased by

         20  58 percent. There were a little more than 7,000

         21  children removed from Fiscal Year '95. In Fiscal

         22  Year '98, that increased over 12,000 children.

         23                 I ask the members of the audience and

         24  members of the Council to ask themselves this, and I

         25  think it would appeal to most of the public of the
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          2  City of New York. We hear about increased economic

          3  opportunities, we hear about decreases in crime

          4  throughout the communities, and we are all glad for

          5  that, but if crime is dropping and economic

          6  situations are improving, why does ACS continue to

          7  remove thousands of children from their parents each

          8  and every year and each and every month? We are

          9  averaging over a thousand children being removed

         10  each month of each year.

         11                 Not to make it dramatic but at this

         12  very moment children are being taken from their

         13  parents. This very moment they will go into foster

         14  care and they will remain there for four years.

         15                 My next point is one I think Council

         16  Member Perkins I think should particularly pay

         17  attention to, the attached chart I have included in

         18  my testimony shows this community-based system that

         19  ACS is planning.

         20                 Today the decisions for the Bronx

         21  were made, our understanding is that within a week

         22  the balance of the City will be offered up through

         23  this process.

         24                 Central Harlem, the community

         25  district we are sitting in now, has more children,
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          2  foster care, Mike Arsham has mentioned the statistic

          3  of one in ten children in Harlem in foster care, ACS

          4  with their own charts predict that by the Year 2000

          5  2,200 children from Central Harlem, this particular

          6  community district, will be in foster care. More

          7  than any other community in the City of New York.

          8  The closest is Bedford Stuyvesant, and obviously the

          9  characteristics of the family and the rate and

         10  ethnicity of the families are very similar in

         11  Bedford Stuyvesant. So, slightly more than 1,800

         12  children will be in care in that period of time. But

         13  the answer as we have said often is prevent

         14  services, not enough preventive services, but in

         15  Central Harlem, what is happening, and this is the

         16  City's own statistics and projections, Central

         17  Harlem is ninth Citywide in the amount of preventive

         18  services that are being scheduled.

         19                 Central Harlem is first in placements

         20  and ninth in preventive services.

         21                 Now, not to compare community

         22  districts, what we don't want is fighting for the

         23  small pot of money and creating hardships,

         24  additional hardships, right across the island of

         25  Manhattan, in East Harlem there are half the number
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          2  of children scheduled to be in foster care in the

          3  Year 2000, yet they have more preventive services,

          4  the central, the East Harlem community has more

          5  preventive services available.

          6                 ACS must be called upon to explain

          7  their decisions and explain why Central Harlem is

          8  not the number one community district in the City

          9  since most children from Central Harlem are being

         10  removed.

         11                 The last point I have to make is a

         12  group of children that are in foster care that

         13  unfortunately are not getting the attention that

         14  they deserve, and that is the adolescents.

         15                 The adolescents, young men and young

         16  women in foster care, 14 years of age and older,

         17  currently represent 25 percent of the 40,000

         18  children in care. Ten-thousand adolescents are

         19  currently in foster care.

         20                 I cited in my testimony an audit that

         21  was done by the City that pointed to wholesale and

         22  across the board misuse of the money that is being

         23  provided to contract agencies for the provision of

         24  independent living services, services that will

         25  prepare the youngsters to live a decent life and a
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          2  fulfilling life after foster care. It is not being

          3  spent in the way that it should be spent.

          4                 The number of adolescents in care are

          5  growing, the number of adolescents that end up in

          6  the criminal justice system is increasing, which

          7  many, many people spoke of today, it is an obvious

          8  conclusion that the federal, the state and the City

          9  money is being allocated for training programs,

         10  tutoring programs, for educational and vocational

         11  opportunities for the 10,000 adolescents that are in

         12  care must be monitored by this Committee and other

         13  committees to prevent the money being wasted.

         14                 Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: All right,

         16  your name?

         17                 MR. SCOTT: I am Edwin Scott, Deputy

         18  Director of Programs for the Valley, in Central

         19  Harlem. We have been in existence 20 years, and I

         20  thank the City Council for this opportunity and for

         21  putting this together.

         22                 The Valley services young people

         23  throughout the City, and we also have a preventive

         24  service program under ACS, as well as servicing

         25  young people in foster care throughout the various
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          2  components in our agency.

          3                 I wanted to talk about group homes.

          4  My statement and my recommendations are as follows:

          5  Group homes are supposed to replace "failed homes"

          6  and the hearing tonight, and I just want to echo,

          7  that is not the case. We has been our experience at

          8  the Valley that young people have been violated,

          9  they are being denied their basic rights and needs

         10  while in group homes. We have experienced that young

         11  people have to struggle by themselves to make it,

         12  that they are abused emotionally, physically,

         13  sexually and politically, and there are people in

         14  these group homes who have no vested interest in

         15  their wellbeing and development.

         16                 My recommendation to the Council is

         17  that we need to come together as partners,

         18  particularly a group that is not even strongly

         19  present tonight, that is young people in foster care

         20  themselves to address the issue of group homes.

         21                 We need to celebrate, replicate and

         22  look at the best practices in positive environments

         23  throughout group homes, throughout the City, and we

         24  need to address, correct and I recommend terminating

         25  those homes who have not conformed. There needs to
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          2  be criteria set up and a very strong system of

          3  accountability.

          4                 I thank you for the opportunity.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

          6                 You are John Bess, I figured that

          7  out.

          8                 MR. BESS: Well, it is an honor to

          9  meet you, sir, and it is an honor to meet you

         10  because you clearly represent a man of courage, you

         11  represent a man who has principles, and for anyone

         12  who doesn't know that, we should see that the whip

         13  has been attempted for you to be lashed, that you

         14  have been attacked not only professionally but

         15  personally, and they have even attempted to punish

         16  your community, and you are taking a position for

         17  the men and the women and the children of New York

         18  City, so it is an honor to be in your presence.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         20                 MR. BESS: Needless to say, one of the

         21  things that Harlem is grateful for is that we have

         22  an activist Councilperson, and not a person that

         23  sits and waits, he is a person that speaks up,

         24  speaks out.

         25                 You know, it says a lot that we are
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          2  meeting here in Harlem, and maybe it is not only

          3  that we are meeting in Harlem, I think what John

          4  said, in terms of the largest number of young people

          5  that are taken into foster care are from this

          6  community, but it is ironic that we are in the

          7  Schomberg Center, ironic in the sense that one of

          8  the painful scars of our community, of our legacy is

          9  slavery. And while people, we seem to be very

         10  confused as to what is happening, it is unfortunate

         11  and painful enough, I am not saying that anybody is

         12  really fully comprehending, but I think we do, it is

         13  unfortunate that the current system that we see is a

         14  system that seems to be the new system of slavery.

         15  It is a new system of going into our villages and

         16  grabbing and stealing and raping our communities. It

         17  is a system that seems to want to capture our

         18  children and somebody is getting economic benefit

         19  from our children. They are buying land and building

         20  buildings and creating infrastructures for their own

         21  institutions. And, so, when we begin to look at ACS

         22  and begin to look at who the contract agencies are,

         23  and occasionally we see some of those contracting

         24  agencies major religious institutions in New York

         25  City, and it is shameful that whether one calls
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          2  himself Catholic or Protestant or Jewish, to see

          3  that the bodies who control these entities have

          4  failed continuously and have disregarded the deeds

          5  of our community. That while they may see themselves

          6  as being somehow caretakers for our children they

          7  have not cared for them. They don't have the

          8  capacity. They don't have the ability. I am talking

          9  about overall, because obviously there are some who

         10  have done well, but overall our children, if you

         11  want to know how they become homeless, you can track

         12  them. How did they get incarcerated, you can track

         13  them. What with this neutron bomb of drugs that

         14  poisoned our community? You can track what has

         15  happened. Someone is benefitting from the horrors of

         16  the conditions. It just seems that people have said

         17  some things that are so clear.

         18                 But I think we have no choice but to

         19  look at it in the framework in which it exists. It

         20  is a system of dehumanization. It is a system that

         21  has not benefitted the people, and not retained

         22  families, have not sustained families, have not

         23  stabilized families, have not empowered families,

         24  but have condemned, torn up, ripped up and crushed

         25  families who want their children.
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          2                 It is painful to hear the grandmother

          3  who was saying "I want my grandchild", it is painful

          4  to hear mothers and fathers and brothers and sisters

          5  and relatives and kids wanting their children and

          6  can't get them.

          7                 It is painful to hear that we have a

          8  system, a legal system that legalizes this form of

          9  slavery. It is painful to hear this. It is not

         10  historically as if we are looking 400 and 500 years

         11  ago, but our children are still being taken from

         12  their villages, they are still being taken from

         13  their homes.

         14                 So we have to draw a bigger picture,

         15  because we have to join you in a long-term battle,

         16  we can't just ask you to look out for our children.

         17  We can't just ask you to walk away from this. If

         18  anything, I think we are hearing that if we want our

         19  freedom, if we want our children, if we want to

         20  protect our community and understand, again, when I

         21  talk about who are the beneficiaries of caring for

         22  children, unless we as a community begin to fight

         23  for it, and I hate to put it in this context, but we

         24  know there is a federal government set up, a state

         25  government is set up, and the City government is set
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          2  up, and the City government is set up that when it

          3  comes to contract, when it comes to businesses and

          4  corporations, they want to change it in its

          5  community, they want to keep it in New York. They

          6  want to keep it in New York City, they don't want it

          7  going some place else. Why would we allow our

          8  community, where the people who care, where the

          9  people have a similar culture, a similar

         10  circumstance, allow others outside to come into our

         11  communities and take our children away? Why would we

         12  let them take our children away from their friends,

         13  away from their community, away from the

         14  institutions, away from its natural environment to

         15  be transported to a place that he has no connection,

         16  he has no identification. We have to protect our

         17  children, we are asking the City Council to take a

         18  very difficult look. You have been the salvation,

         19  you have allowed this Mayor to claim your victories.

         20                 Bottom line: Why is crime down?

         21  Because you participated with the former Mayor to

         22  bring on police, you created community policing, you

         23  have restored those necessary things in the budget

         24  to retain the necessities, and many community-based

         25  organizations and many communities have joined with

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            122

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  you in saving and preserving and working with our

          3  children. We have surrendered our victories, and now

          4  to allow somebody else to claim our victories, we

          5  want to join with you in a battle, a political, a

          6  spiritual, a social battle to reclaim our children.

          7  We want them. They are our natural rights, our

          8  natural destiny, it is our passion, it is our duty,

          9  it is our obligation to take our children and raise

         10  them ourselves in our own communities, in our own

         11  institutions, in our own way. So, we want to join in

         12  that battle, we want to raise them above what the

         13  standards are, see the world, 21st century

         14  millennium. You set children free. So, we urge you

         15  to please join us in our battle.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I am

         17  speechless. But I have to tell you, you pulled it

         18  all together for us. You pulled it all together.

         19                 Now, I just will make a couple of

         20  points. Again, and this for everyone we will hear

         21  from tonight. We do these hearings because we are

         22  engaged in the battle. We do these hearings to hear

         23  from the advocates and the organized groups, but we

         24  also listen to the case-by-case, and while it is

         25  true that in any one case we may not be able to
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          2  offer you the answer, it is important to both hear

          3  all of the individual cases and understand it as

          4  best we can and hear from the folks who are in the

          5  various service agencies, and the legal agencies,

          6  because this material will help us do our job.

          7                 You know, John, that preventive

          8  services not only are important, but it has been

          9  repeatedly cut since this administration got here,

         10  and if it wasn't for us, this Committee, they would

         11  have almost disappeared.

         12                 Every year millions of dollars go,

         13  and every year we won't let the budget pass until

         14  they are restored. You may know, and I appreciate

         15  your comments, that it doesn't matter whether they

         16  threaten us or try to punish us, me or any member of

         17  this Committee, that when family rehabilitation,

         18  which you know, provides us an opportunity for

         19  people who were involved with drugs to be able to

         20  get clean and stay clean that we should restore

         21  that. And it was only restored to half the tune of

         22  what it once was, but we held onto some of it.

         23                 And you may know that not only is it

         24  true that it in Central Harlem there are more kids

         25  pulled and less preventive services, but I will give
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          2  you one better, and you know probably this

          3  statistic, but maybe everyone doesn't know this, in

          4  the six or eight community boards of the greatest

          5  need, there are the least number of personnel to

          6  address those needs even front line, and that is

          7  what we took them to task for and that is what we

          8  exposed through the work of this Committee. And so,

          9  you know, they may change and shift the personnel,

         10  and maybe the personnel numbers may begin to match,

         11  but now there is another level of that problem,

         12  preventive services, you know, don't match, in terms

         13  of being last and being first in numbers of kids

         14  taken.

         15                 So, we are not afraid to deal with

         16  these battles. That is why I said, although Bill

         17  heard it, you know, from so many individuals and

         18  groups up here in Central Harlem, this Committee

         19  heard it from many different places, and that is

         20  why, you know, the coming together of this hearing.

         21                 So, I want to thank you all for your

         22  contribution. We will continue to have, and it won't

         23  be 20, but it may be three or four meetings, we will

         24  take as much as we can in, in a short a time. And

         25  you know what? It is what we did with the welfare
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          2  hearings, it is what we will do with others. Last in

          3  line will be the agency to come in and begin to

          4  answer these questions. They have to be held

          5  accountable. We know that. That is what we are

          6  about. That is, you know, whether it was homeless

          7  services, which was a bill that tried to protect, to

          8  provide services, to balance out that difficult

          9  issue, you know, communities that need protection

         10  and the story you alluded to, or whether it is any

         11  of the other stories, the for-profit welfare hotels

         12  that, you know, we are abusing, you have used in the

         13  Council districts, until we change that or, you

         14  know, any other example in between, that is what we

         15  have always tried to do and that is what we continue

         16  to try to do.

         17                 I am taking too much time, there are

         18  more people to hear from. Thank you all.

         19                 Council Member Eldridge has one and

         20  then we will finish with this panel.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: John, I

         22  think you said it, but I just wanted to ask a

         23  question anyway, from Mr. Courtney or from any of

         24  you.

         25                 Did you believe that the diminishing
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          2  number of children in kinship care is a result of an

          3  ideology? Or is it the result (a) of a personnel

          4  cut, the budget constraint, or the desire to support

          5  the agency the City contracts with?

          6                 MR. COURTNEY: I believe that first

          7  psychology. I don't believe that this

          8  administration, unlike the previous administration,

          9  feels, you know, I will use the word comfortable,

         10  perhaps not define that adequately, but they don't

         11  feel comfortable with kinship care.

         12                 They are not committed, in my

         13  estimation, to preserving families and seeing

         14  families, be they extended families or immediate

         15  families, as a place where the children should be

         16  raised. They feel more comfortable taking the

         17  children from their parents, taking them from their

         18  community, placing them in another community,

         19  perhaps in New York City, or perhaps outside New

         20  York City. So, there is an ideological foundation.

         21                 Second, they are not instructing

         22  their staff in a very, very simple way to look for

         23  other alternatives. There is, in my information,

         24  probably plenty of staff, as much staff as ACF has

         25  ever had, the staff is involved in removing
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          2  children, rather than taking the time to look, talk

          3  to the children, to look to the community where the

          4  children reside, to look to where their extended

          5  families are, and very easily removing those

          6  children and placing them in a foster home. It is

          7  easier to do that. It takes time on the part of the

          8  child protective service worker to look for an

          9  alternative to non-related foster care. ACS is not

         10  instructing their staff to do that.

         11                 Whatever they are doing, the

         12  supervisory staff are reviewing decisions, they are

         13  not reviewing this particular decision or we

         14  wouldn't see a five-year trend, not in discharges,

         15  but in placements, fewer placements taking place

         16  which is pushing the number of children in kinship

         17  care down.

         18                 So, it is ideological and it is

         19  procedural and it's a lack of commitment to

         20  families.

         21                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Somebody is

         22  screaming in the back, that is why I wanted to add,

         23  the foster care industry in my line is akin to the

         24  prison industrial complex, and I think all to be

         25  clear about one thing, that hundreds, thousands of
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          2  people are living off the misplacement if

          3  African-American and Latino children. And that is

          4  what people need to be clear about, because, you

          5  know, people talk a lot about how we are going to

          6  have community based services, and all of that is

          7  fine and I welcome that, but I really would welcome

          8  the fact that you would urge ACS, or more

          9  appropriately, urge the Mayor, that instead of

         10  having a system where somebody is paid $500 or $800

         11  to take a child from their mother, who is at risk of

         12  losing the child because she is poor and in a

         13  shelter, to give that $500 or $800 to her. Because

         14  that is what is going on, the ideology, it is also

         15  timing, and it is also these people are making

         16  money.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ELDRIDGE: And it is

         18  also now with the new announced programs of making

         19  families who are in a shelter participate in the

         20  welfare to work program, that if they don't do that,

         21  you then put the children -- you get evicted and

         22  then the children go into foster care, then if they

         23  just put the money that they would spend there into

         24  paying rent, we might be able to get people out.

         25                 So, I agree with you, it is an
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          2  ideological basis and from there --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: One of the

          4  things that would certainly help us do our job also,

          5  is with groups like yours, and the professionals in

          6  the advocacy groups who send the letter, the E.mail,

          7  not phone calls but something written to Scoppetta.

          8  Wait a minute, you haven't heard what I am going to

          9  say. You don't know what I am going to say.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Quiet, please.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Send a letter

         12  to him, to the Commissioner and to the Mayor and to

         13  the Corp Counsel requesting and demanding that they

         14  appear without us having to subpoena them and that

         15  they respond. Because a good part of the problem

         16  that we have as the Committee was oversight for ACS,

         17  for example, is that we went through three hearings

         18  recently where the Committee members didn't show up,

         19  sent someone else, and we are sure that it is upon

         20  the direction of the Mayor. It is a situation where

         21  the only voice they hear in some cases is the

         22  chair's voice or members of the Committee, they do

         23  not come unless we subpoena them, and when they do

         24  come it is in many cases, turn on channel 74 and

         25  listen as they say to us they can't answer this
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          2  because it is a question about budget and we are not

          3  in budget time, this is an oversight.

          4                 So, we need, in addition to our own

          5  voices we need outcry from advocacy groups that you

          6  realize the game they are playing and that the

          7  Charter says we have oversight. You can't oversee an

          8  agency unless someone forces them to come and then

          9  answer. We can had have subpoenaed them. But do you

         10  know what happens in between that time? You set up a

         11  hearing, they don't come, then you have to get the

         12  subpoenas and the Mayor goes on TV, the papers, he

         13  screams and then we get embroiled in something else

         14  where Steve loses whatever, I get fire boxes

         15  dismantled in my district and so on.

         16                 We need you to get on their cases

         17  about coming before us and answering the questions

         18  when you arm us with the information. We are willing

         19  to do it, but sometimes we are really talking to the

         20  wall.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay, thank

         22  you, folks, very much.

         23                 I will just leave you one thought. We

         24  said, you know, they came before us at the last

         25  hearing before this hearing started and we talked
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          2  with them about this neighborhood base, which you

          3  guys alluded to, and I said, well, why don't you,

          4  you know, use the Bronx as a pilot? Why don't you

          5  wait and see the results? If there is a fear that,

          6  for example, it will be neighborhood-based and it

          7  won't be true indigenous organizations, and some of

          8  the smaller groups or some of the minority groups

          9  may be cut out, you know, I raised all of these

         10  questions even though they didn't want to hear it

         11  all. In any event, of course the response, no, we

         12  are going to move, going to move. I mean, you think

         13  about it, this is an important concept, but you

         14  know, without knowing how it works, without the

         15  preventive component, we are still not sure. No one

         16  is going to argue against having a system improved

         17  and based in neighborhoods. But as you know, just to

         18  give you a sense of how high the mountain is that we

         19  are all trying to climb here to make sense out of

         20  these policies - no, we are going to move to the

         21  next five boroughs, the next four boroughs which you

         22  mentioned. Even if we thought the system wasn't bad

         23  or we agreed with what they were doing, why do you

         24  rush after all this time?

         25                 That is how far they go in defending
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          2  you know that full speed ahead approach.

          3                 Anyway, thank you all.

          4                 Now, let's move to the next two

          5  witnesses.

          6                 SR. SPETH: Good evening, I am Sister

          7  Florence Speth, a sister of charity, a resident of

          8  East Harlem, and Director of Fox House, a shelter

          9  for homeless women and children.

         10                 Tonight I represent the Tier II

         11  Coalition of more than 40 organizations operating 60

         12  emergency shelters for families in New York City.

         13  Last night over 3,000 families slept safely in a

         14  Tier II facility.

         15                 We thank you for coming uptown this

         16  evening. And we thank you and congratulate you, Mr.

         17  DiBrienza. We thank you for the wonderful end to

         18  your strong efforts to stop the practice of families

         19  sleeping in the Emergency Assistance Unit as they

         20  await shelter.

         21                 Because of your outstanding

         22  leadership and the work of the City Council,

         23  children will no longer have to sleep in the floor

         24  or on chairs pushed together. This was the great

         25  news of Friday.
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          2                 Although families will not have to

          3  sleep in Emergency Assistant Units, they are still

          4  problems with how families get processed to become

          5  eligible for temporary shelter.

          6                 Families are being refused shelter

          7  and often called uncooperative or fraudulent when

          8  they seek shelter. It is not unusual for a family to

          9  be refused shelter three, four, five times - I even

         10  know a family that was refused 16 times before being

         11  accepted.

         12                 In addition to the difficulties

         13  families face getting into the system, there is also

         14  a potential crisis brewing that may affect the child

         15  welfare system. It relates to what we call "Back End

         16  Eligibility", that is, a person or a family's

         17  ability to remain eligible once they are in the

         18  system. The City and State have defined ongoing

         19  Temporary Housing Assistance, which is a family's

         20  eligibility for emergency shelter, as just another

         21  public assistance benefit related to one's welfare

         22  case.

         23                 Therefore, when families are

         24  sanctioned for various and sundry reasons, at times

         25  through no fault of their own, and we all know that
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          2  this happens quite frequently, they will be at risk

          3  of losing their emergency shelter.

          4                 In addition, though the vast majority

          5  of shelter clients move out as quickly as they can,

          6  there are those who remain in the system 18 months

          7  or longer due to mental illness, previous histories,

          8  immigration issues, or, most importantly, the lack

          9  of affordable housing in our City.

         10                 The Department of Homeless Services

         11  is writing regulations which order shelters to

         12  discharge these families who have been in the system

         13  over a year and a half if they are deemed

         14  non-compliant or non-cooperative.

         15                 Where will these families go? If they

         16  are forced out of the shelter system, or never

         17  allowed in due to the demands of welfare reform or

         18  because they are considered non-compliant, where

         19  will they go?

         20                 If they are lucky, they will go to an

         21  overcrowded apartment of a family member or a

         22  friend, but maybe back to an abuser or an abandoned

         23  building or the streets.

         24                 Those who cannot provide a place for

         25  their children will risk having them removed by ACS,
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          2  starting a vicious cycle all over again, because

          3  without their children they will not be able to get

          4  housing to accommodate their children, as was

          5  already said this evening, and then they will never

          6  be able to be reunited with their children because

          7  they don't have a house anymore.

          8                 These policies of not accepting

          9  homeless families into the system or back-end

         10  eligibility are cruel to our most vulnerable

         11  neighbors.

         12                 This evening I have heard horror

         13  stories of families, we are creating more horror

         14  stories for the families that are presently in the

         15  shelter system.

         16                 We are setting them up. They are

         17  already set up by City and State law to have their

         18  children removed from ACS.

         19                 It will cost taxpayers more to

         20  separate families and place children in foster care.

         21  It is an insult to the good foster caring families

         22  to have their loving and able care threatened, as a

         23  threat over the less fortunate people. It is just

         24  mean and cruel.

         25                 I thank you for being here this
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          2  evening, and I thank your Committee for the

          3  outstanding work you have done on so many issues for

          4  the families of New York City.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you,

          7  Sister. I take pride in each and every one of the

          8  members and we work very well together, this

          9  committee, and everyone has given beyond I think

         10  even their own imagination, the ones on the

         11  committee, whether a long-time member or like

         12  Council Member Perkins.

         13                 Anyway, let me say one other thing,

         14  and that is, as another series probably we will be

         15  doing a follow-up hearing on DHS, Department of

         16  Homeless Services, on eligibility, where they really

         17  have no standards, on this whole question now of if

         18  people lose their welfare, they lose their cash

         19  grants coming in, they lose their housing,

         20  counterproductive, what happens to kids? So, we will

         21  get in touch with you about that, and that will be

         22  at City Hall.

         23                 SR. SPETH: We look forward to that.

         24  Thank you.

         25                 Okay, now, everyone has to cooperate.
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          2  For those who don't know me, normally if we were at

          3  City Hall we could stay for eight hours, but we have

          4  a time limit here. When you come up to the mic, make

          5  the main point you want to make. We will go one

          6  after the other, and, again, understand that this is

          7  only the second in our series of intake, and you are

          8  watching us until we can put something out there to

          9  try to help.

         10                 Wilbur McReynolds.

         11                 MR. McREYNOLDS: This will take about

         12  a minute.

         13                 On August 31st, 1997, and September

         14  1st, 1997, the letter from Council Member Bill

         15  Perkins' Office was the minutes of the Commissioner

         16  on Judicial Conduct and the list of judges. As up

         17  through today, February 22nd, 1999, the Commission

         18  on Judicial Conduct, or any other judge that

         19  disputes my August 31st, 1998 letter, I submit to

         20  the New York City Council today that the intentions

         21  of my August 31st, 1998 letter must be taken to be

         22  the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth

         23  as a matter of law and just.

         24                 I want to hear from anyone who

         25  appears at this hearing who can dispute with reason

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            138

          1  COMMITTEE ON GENERAL WELFARE

          2  as I see the law, what I am saying in connection

          3  with the list of judges being in violation of the

          4  constitutional and sanctuary law, including the

          5  constitutional involvement as judges. Being corrupt,

          6  dishonored, averting justice and using what they

          7  know to perjury after reaching judicial positions

          8  and engaging in conduct that they know is wrong, and

          9  unbecoming a judge.

         10                 My reputation insists, as I do, that

         11  the law should be enforced. If the law is being

         12  enforced, the law has been violated, our judicial

         13  rights are being violated. The law is going to be

         14  violated, they can do it any time they want, they

         15  can do anything they want.

         16                 My recommendation to this Committee

         17  is that, the law enforcement.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         19                 Anjalena Harvey. Step up, please.

         20                 MS. HARVEY: Good evening, gentlemen

         21  and --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Don't be

         23  nervous.

         24                 MS. HARVEY: This is my first time. I

         25  am glad I am here because you learn a lot about your
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          2  rights as a citizen in society, and me, I am a

          3  single parent, I have two children that I brought

          4  here tonight, and I am also a full-time student at

          5  Medgar Evers College, and also I am a part-time

          6  worker there as well.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA:

          8  Congratulations to you.

          9                 MS. HARVEY: Thank you. I received my

         10  associate's degree at Pace University, but I

         11  transferred to Medgars. I prefer to go to school

         12  within my community, so I am at Medgar Evers College

         13  now.

         14                 But being a single parent is not

         15  easy. It is difficult trying to raise a family.

         16  Social service I am on but I also work but they

         17  choose not to really help me with day care and stuff

         18  like that, and that is what you really need when you

         19  are a single parent mother. If you don't have that,

         20  the first thing they are going to do is call ACW,

         21  which is ACS now. And I will try my best to raise my

         22  children the best can and I work very hard and

         23  everything I do I try my best.

         24                 But something had truly definitely

         25  happened. Because I filed a case against the school
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          2  that I was working at, I was sexually harassed and

          3  ever since I filed that case with EEOC, I have been

          4  discriminated in every area, as far as Section 8,

          5  public assistance and even at the school that I am

          6  going now, I have been harassed consistently since I

          7  filed this case, and I feel because if I am

          8  discriminated, and I told what happened, which is

          9  the actual truth, I felt because I told what

         10  happened, which is the truth, I am being harassed. I

         11  haven't done any wrong.

         12                 If I don't want to be with someone in

         13  a sexual way, that is my choice, that is my right.

         14  No one should try to take that away from me, but

         15  because I have filed that case, I have been

         16  harassed, I have been threatened and my children

         17  will be taken away because I filed that case, and I

         18  think that is wrong.

         19                 In my community, I am from Bushwick,

         20  I have seen a lot of facilities where you see a lot

         21  of young women where they have been basically moved

         22  from their homes, their children have been taken

         23  away and a lot has to do with a dichotomy of

         24  prostitution. If you do not want to give your body

         25  up to these people, the first thing is they are
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          2  going to take your children away. But I will not

          3  allow this, I know I am a good mother. They have

          4  been with me now, they are consistent and up to date

          5  with things, they are always in school, I try my

          6  best. I put them in reading project programs and

          7  speaking programs to also help in any way I can

          8  because I have not had any help from the father.

          9                 So, as a parent I take full

         10  responsibility in anything I do, but because I

         11  choose to go to EEOC, Human Rights Commission, to

         12  say that, yes, I have been sexually harassed, can

         13  you do something to help me, they choose not to

         14  because I am a black woman, and that is wrong.

         15                 If you are sexually harassed,

         16  regardless of what color you are, you should be

         17  given some kind of remedy for what happened to you.

         18  Because I spoke up, I am being harassed, and that is

         19  wrong. That is why I am here today.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: We don't want

         21  to see double wrong, so if you sue, as you pursue

         22  the claim make sure that you continually identify

         23  all of the fall-outs, the things that happened,

         24  because that all becomes a part in your claims. And

         25  good luck with that claim.
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          2                 MS. HARVEY: Thank you.

          3                 Marie Caldo? And Susie Smith. Would

          4  you line up at the mic, please.

          5                 MS. CALDO: I am Marie Caldo. Last

          6  year I had my kids taken away, my two sons, while I

          7  was five months pregnant, for domestic violence.

          8  Well, instead of helping me go to a shelter and

          9  working it out with me and the baby's father, they

         10  got me and my kids to live somewhere else because I

         11  couldn't afford it. They told me to go down to the

         12  office, saying that if I didn't they would take them

         13  away, well I did and they did take them away because

         14  I went to the office and after interviewing both of

         15  us they decided to take my kids away. I don't know

         16  for what reason. But once I said you can't take my

         17  kids away, the called 12 cops and they pushed me

         18  over a counter where my feet were up in the air by

         19  this much and pressing on my belly and I am crying

         20  that they are hurting me, the 12 cops, and they were

         21  breaking my ribs by pulling up to my back, and the

         22  people sat there and said nothing, they were just

         23  laughing. I was telling them I am pregnant, I am

         24  five months pregnant, and they didn't say anything,

         25  and then he wants me to report these 12 cops at the
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          2  120 Precinct, and then they were calling me crazy

          3  names and telling me you have a baby in your belly,

          4  why don't you forget about the other two.

          5                 They physically abused me where I had

          6  bruises on my belly, my baby could have been hurt,

          7  and thank God she came out all right.

          8                 Now, they are saying they took my

          9  kids away because he abused me, and they took me

         10  away in front of my children while they were crying.

         11  And while I was handcuffed they took me to St.

         12  Vincent's for seven hours, and I was forced to have

         13  a sonograph (sic) handcuffed during the whole thing.

         14                 They abused me after they took my

         15  kids away, still I don't have them. All of this

         16  physical abuse that they do and mental abuse is

         17  evil.

         18                 MS. MAYERS: Good evening. My name is

         19  Eva Mayers, I am the mother of nine children.

         20                 December 17th of 1998 ACS workers and

         21  six police officers came into my home and they took

         22  my children. One thing that I feel is wrong is the

         23  fear that women have. If you have a child during

         24  this time, you live in fear. Someone talked about

         25  the number in the future of children that they will
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          2  have planned to have placed, all right? I told my

          3  six daughters, don't have any children, because we

          4  are living in a time where your children are not

          5  safe.

          6                 My children were returned to me

          7  within three weeks, but for those three weeks they

          8  were separated, nobody knew where they were, during

          9  those three weeks they didn't have a change of

         10  clothing, during those three weeks the younger

         11  children were hiding in a closet in the foster home

         12  where they were, they were left alone, there was a

         13  foster care child who was 12 years old who got

         14  pregnant while in foster care, the foster care

         15  person who took care of them was working and left

         16  them alone.

         17                 Even though they were returned to me,

         18  my children, if you knock on the door they hide in

         19  the closet. They don't answer the telephone. The one

         20  that was getting straight A's is dropping out of

         21  school. What this system does, the way they remove

         22  the children creates damage and destroying. Once

         23  they take them they are never the same. While I have

         24  them, I have to see what is going to happen, my

         25  position as a mother, it will never happen again. I
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          2  will never ever allow anyone to come into my home

          3  and rip my children from me, and by any means

          4  necessary it will not happen again.

          5                 I am watching more and more parents

          6  take that position. People are going to fight back.

          7  People are going to fight the police because we are

          8  not going to stand for them just taking your

          9  children.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         11                 Susie Smith, followed by Dyandria

         12  Murray, followed by Geraldine Lourie.

         13                 Ms. Smith.

         14                 MS. SMITH: Yes, I took the time off

         15  tonight to come here because I saw all about the

         16  City Council in the Amsterdam News.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Try to speak a

         18  little more into the mic.

         19                 MR. SMITH: Okay.

         20                 I have a grandson, he is Irish and

         21  black, which we all have mixed people, you know, and

         22  when they see me they all look at me like I am

         23  stupid. My grandbaby was taken away from school, May

         24  11, 1998, and I have been going through this for

         25  quite awhile. And I went to the folks at Human
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          2  Rights and also the people in Brooklyn over there, I

          3  have to go to Brooklyn tomorrow. One of the ladies

          4  called me to tell me that it's time for me to come

          5  see him, which I had been seeing him the whole time,

          6  they never called me before. The only time they took

          7  my grandbaby from the house, they had four people

          8  come to the house, you know, policemen, and I let

          9  them talk because I am a big person and I saw they

         10  wanted to talk so I let them talk. When I did I

         11  wrote everything down, I have me a day-to-day diary

         12  on what they have been doing, so when I have to kick

         13  somebody's butt I got something to do something

         14  with. You know, I see a lot of documentation, you

         15  know.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Right. So you

         17  are fighting to get your grandchild back?

         18                 MS. SMITH: My grandbaby, yes. My

         19  grandbaby, he is ten years old. So tomorrow, I am

         20  going tomorrow to see my daughter. She was going to

         21  school out in Long Island, commuting. She lost her

         22  apartment and everything and she is trying to find

         23  an apartment too. We don't sell drugs, we don't sell

         24  our bodies, you are going to get nothing from her.

         25  So now they told me that she is depressed, you know.
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          2  And they tell me that I call everyday. Sure I call,

          3  of course I call and talk to the half little white

          4  baby. Who is going to talk to him. I am his black

          5  grandmother. I am going to call. I call and shake

          6  him up, you know, because I try to talk to people

          7  you know, they are all afraid of me when I call.

          8  That is my grandbaby, I am his black grandmother, he

          9  has a white grandmother. He know who he has. I am

         10  going to call and kick him in the butt, they are all

         11  ascared (sic) of me, you know. So they call and say

         12  Susie, yes, what is it. You don't just call me, you

         13  going to come to Kearney? K-e-a-r-n-e-y. I say of

         14  course I am going to come and see him, what do you

         15  want me to do?

         16                 I went out there about Christmastime,

         17  a little before Christmas. It snowed, sleet, I had

         18  my sneakers, I put them on to see him, they know I

         19  was coming. If I get a call to see him, I am going

         20  to travel. I will get there. I may be a little late,

         21  but I will be there. I will find you, because I am

         22  glad I know how to read and write. And by the way so

         23  they know where I live at, I was on one side, now

         24  I'm on the other side, I moved from there, I have a

         25  bigger place, and the people where they took the
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          2  little boy, they don't say Ms. Smith, do you have a

          3  bigger place? They don't call you and tell you

          4  anything. Everybody don't use drugs, everybody don't

          5  sell their bodies, you know, everybody is not

          6  confused, you know. Like I say, I do my darned to

          7  chase them so when they start saying something, I

          8  have something to kick them in their butt.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Now, has

         10  someone helped you in court?

         11                 MS. SMITH: No, I'm okay. I'm all

         12  right, I am going to do it myself.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

         14                 MS. SMITH: I learned a lot.

         15                 And I am going to tell you one more

         16  thing and I will be finished.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I have a

         18  friend that wants to know where my grandbaby is. Her

         19  father was Charlie Houston. These sort of black

         20  people go to Washington, D.C., her father taught the

         21  late Thergood Marshall, that's who I know. She gave

         22  my grandbaby a trust fund, they say he is autistic,

         23  but that is crap. My daughter taught him how to read

         24  and write. He reads very good. And they put him

         25  where much of those kids are a little jealous, you
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          2  know. So now they are taking him out of that school

          3  and putting him in a better school. So I will kick

          4  them in the butt, I don't curse no one out but I

          5  talk to people, they are a little scared of me

          6  because I don't play, and I will be 60 this year.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: God bless you.

          8                 MS. SMITH: Thank you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Make sure you

         10  take your time when you get down there and you get

         11  your grandchild back.

         12                 Dyandria Murray.

         13                 MS. MURRAY: Yes, hi. I learned about

         14  the foster care fraud because I became a victim

         15  myself. My husband was $30,000 in the arrears of

         16  child support and he knew that the only way you can

         17  get out of paying child support is by calling up the

         18  1-800 abuse hot line. So without doing an

         19  investigation they broke the door down, they took

         20  the child, and she has been there since.

         21                 Now, I started a television program,

         22  I have also written books and articles and because

         23  of that I was told by the caseworker your child is

         24  going to remain in foster care until she is 18

         25  because we don't like your crusade. So, I am going
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          2  to tell you something, I am not stopping my crusade.

          3  I will never stop the crusade. But with all of the

          4  other people, this room should have been filled. So

          5  many people, they should have been in the hallways,

          6  because there are 42,000 children in foster care.

          7  Did you know that 38,000 of those children don't

          8  belong there. The only reason for foster care should

          9  be if the parent abused their child.

         10                 When I got caught in the system, and

         11  I never neglected my child, I never even came close

         12  to it. What Mr. Reynolds had said about why don't

         13  they just follow the laws, if you look into Title

         14  USE 1983, we do have laws; did you people know that?

         15  There are laws in states, they are not supposed to

         16  touch your children or come near your house without

         17  saying, listen, we think there is a problem, we

         18  would like to help you. Did you know that? No. They

         19  broke my door down, they didn't even tell me they

         20  were thinking about taking the child. Nobody even

         21  told me we are upset because you are in home

         22  schooling, even though home schooling is legal.

         23                 And, no, black people are not being

         24  targeted, it appears that way, but according to Mark

         25  Green's office, 52 percent, last year, 52 percent of
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          2  all foster care in the United States children in

          3  foster care were white. And because of the 1996

          4  Clinton law, it is going to be higher than that,

          5  because they are adopting more white children now.

          6  They are pulling in more whites, and they are

          7  adopting out more whites.

          8                 The government would love to conquer

          9  and divide. By dividing blacks against white, we

         10  can't join forces and unite against them.

         11                 Mr. Wilbur was 100 percent white,

         12  there are many, many different laws --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay, I need

         14  you to sum up, we are running close to the end.

         15                 MS. MURRAY: Okay.

         16                 What we have to do in New York, since

         17  this is the United States --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Right.

         19                 MS. MURRAY: In order to change a

         20  little bit here and right now is to start something

         21  new, like we have to elect our judges.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay, I need

         23  you to sum up, please.

         24                 MS. MURRAY: Elect judges, not

         25  appointments.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay, there is

          3  five more people to go.

          4                 MS. MURRAY: Okay.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: That's another

          6  point.

          7                 Geraldine Lourie.

          8                 MS. LOURIE: Hi. My name is Geraldine

          9  Lourie, I just want to say I have been working in

         10  the social services system, I started off as a

         11  parent aide, case worker and case manager. I have

         12  been in it for about ten years.

         13                 I am embarrassed to say, I am

         14  embarrassed to say I work in the system. I am

         15  embarrassed to be associated with it. In fact, so

         16  embarrassed that I now provide social services in a

         17  tenement building. But in terms of helping people,

         18  to let them know about these laws.

         19                 I just want to say that, who watches

         20  the social workers? Who watches ACS? What about

         21  their supervisors? They need the mental health

         22  services, I am sorry, you know?

         23                 Many times I have been to court with

         24  cases and I have heard ACS and I couldn't believe

         25  it. I was embarrassed, because I am in the courts
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          2  and I am with this case, and the ACS worker is over

          3  me because I was a progressive worker, so I had to

          4  sit and let them do all the talking, I was

          5  embarrassed. They lied. I know it was a lie. In the

          6  same means, the parents are being stepped on. They

          7  are overwhelmed with this bureaucratic system.

          8  Someone needs to monitor these ACS workers and

          9  supervisors. They are the psychopaths, they need

         10  mental health services.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: There is

         12  incredible pressure to direct the system in one way.

         13  The direction of this system comes from the top of

         14  the Administration from the Commissioner's Office

         15  and so on, to be fair, I am sure it is unbearable

         16  pressure. It doesn't mean that we shouldn't watch

         17  what everyone does, but I do feel compelled to say

         18  at least that much, even though I am far out there

         19  as just about anybody else trying to fix this

         20  problem, I do think there is incredible pressure,

         21  some of the witnesses talked about it, you know,

         22  they have a predetermined notion, they don't let

         23  them do everything they are supposed to do, they

         24  don't let them search for options, they don't let

         25  them believe in kinship, that has to have a grinding
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          2  effect, I am sure it had on you.

          3                 But having said that, you are right,

          4  no one should not follow the law.

          5                 Thank you.

          6                 Posr A. Posr.

          7                 MR. POSR: I am going to introduce

          8  myself after this statement. We, the members, and

          9  the representatives of the members of the City

         10  Council, are presumptively in favor of pro se views,

         11  audiovisual recordings and publicly disseminated

         12  Family Court proceedings and related proceedings if

         13  a litigant thereof consents.

         14                 First of all, I would like to say

         15  that I think that at the Council's expense,

         16  everything that has happened here should be

         17  translated into Spanish, you know, on the videotapes

         18  so the people who don't speak English can hear what

         19  is going on because I know the Latino community is

         20  being affected.

         21                 I am the founder of Pro Se Alliance,

         22  Pro Se Views, and the Mission of Pro Se Alliance,

         23  and Pro Se Views is to assist the Pro Se litigant

         24  and audiovisually to assist the Pro Se litigant in

         25  developing an effective command of pretrial, trial
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          2  and appellate procedures.

          3                 I have had a show on since 1994. I

          4  have a certificate in legal research. But even if I

          5  didn't, even if I didn't I should be respected in

          6  the court as a human being, as a person who deserves

          7  the full protection of the law.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: And you assist

          9  other pro se clients?

         10                 MR. POSR: Absolutely, no doubt.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay. Is there

         12  anything that you want us to know?

         13                 MR. POSR: I want you to know

         14  everything that I am saying. Now, just hold on a

         15  second.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay, well, I

         17  only have about a minute, so you have to try to sum

         18  up.

         19                 MR. POSR: Well, then I guess you will

         20  have to leave as I address the crowd because this is

         21  pertinent information.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: No, sir, that

         23  is not how it works. We are guests of the

         24  Schomberg's and we are trying to accommodate three

         25  more people, so just give me your main points.
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          2                 MR. POSR: My main point, okay, is

          3  that there need to be cameras in -- well, not only

          4  the Family Courts, but they definitely need to be in

          5  the Family Courts.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

          7                 MR. POSR: It is not just okay,

          8  because what you are talking about here is, you say,

          9  and we all know that people don't know what is going

         10  on, and the reason they don't know what is going on

         11  is because they can't see it.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: I got you.

         13                 MR. POSR: Wait a minute, okay, you

         14  got me? Then this is what I want you to do, as a

         15  City Council member, who is for everyone knowing, I

         16  want you to sign this document that says, we, the

         17  members and the representatives of the members of

         18  the City Council are presumptively in favor of Pro

         19  Se Views audiovisually recording and publicly

         20  disseminating Family Court proceedings and related

         21  proceedings if a litigant thereof consents. All of

         22  these people, I want you to sign it right now.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: You can submit

         24  it to us and we will review it.

         25                 I am sorry, sir, that is not how the
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          2  system works. You can submit it and I will review it

          3  and find out exactly what it is all about. I hear

          4  your concept.

          5                 Ernest Williams. You can leave it

          6  with us, if you would like.

          7                 Ernest Williams. Thank you. Let's be

          8  fair to three more people.

          9                 MR. WILLIAMS: Good evening. My name

         10  is Ernest Williams, I am the founder of Fathers Are

         11  Parents Too. We are an advocacy group for justice in

         12  the Family and Supreme Court arenas.

         13                 Everything I really had to say to you

         14  tonight has basically been said. But our government

         15  is based on a system of checks and balances where

         16  everyone is accountable to someone else. This is

         17  what I am going to put to you and the panel tonight.

         18                 ACS is charged with the duty of

         19  protecting our children. They remove our children

         20  under the guise and color of law through eminent

         21  danger. The only dangers these children face is when

         22  they are removed into foster care. If the records

         23  were kept and produced, you would see the number of

         24  injuries and fatalities are far greater than they

         25  would happen in the family, all right?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: That's a good

          3  point.

          4                 MR. WILLIAMS:  The question like the

          5  young lady says, who watches over ACS?

          6                 That is supposed to be the duty of

          7  the Family Court. Family Court is supposed to

          8  protect our rights, that is under the constitution

          9  of the government and the state. However, anything

         10  that is said, hearsay, and I know you know what

         11  hearsay means because most of you up there are

         12  lawyers, hearsay is non-permittable evidence in any

         13  crime in your other courts --

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Right.

         15                 MR. WILLIAMS: But in Family Court

         16  anything they say is what you are guilty of. What

         17  are we going to do about this kind of thing?

         18                 Let me just read this. It says,

         19  Family Courts are supposed to protect the rights of

         20  people, not act in concert with ACS and other

         21  agencies. Parents are guilty of accusations, but not

         22  of having committed the charged offenses. You get

         23  them taking you out of there saying your children

         24  are in danger and then they change it over to

         25  something else, just like in your stores with
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          2  bathing suit tactics - neglect is a catch-all.

          3                 I am going to tell you, neglect is so

          4  broad I could take the president and blame him of

          5  it. Now, since we are on the president, the other

          6  thing I want to ask you is, we had our president up

          7  for perjury, why isn't perjury prosecuted in Family

          8  Court?

          9                 If that was the case, all of your

         10  lawyers, all of your judges, all of your ACS workers

         11  would be in jail.

         12                 Wait a minute, I am not finished yet,

         13  I am only going to take a few minutes to do this. In

         14  Family Court there are ten articles, Article 9 is

         15  for reconcilement. That means putting mothers and

         16  fathers that fight in a program to reconciliate so

         17  they can get their differences together. If you can

         18  put mothers and fathers together, you can have

         19  children together. Why is this not funded?

         20                 The judge explained that they didn't

         21  have any money but it was part of the program --

         22  now, that's your job. Why hasn't this extended to

         23  the mothers and fathers, but also the reconcilement

         24  of the children? This is what families are about.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: There are two
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          2  more people, sir.

          3                 MR. WILLIAMS: This is so short. The

          4  courts, the judges are appointed by the Mayor,

          5  without public intervention at all. That means they

          6  are controlled by a political force.

          7                 18B attorneys are appointed by the

          8  judge.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Right.

         10                 MR. WILLIAMS: They are also paid and

         11  the voucher is signed by the judge, so if an

         12  attorney comes in there, he is not going to

         13  represent you, because he has to alienate the judge.

         14  Where are these checks and balances you are talking

         15  about?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: That is what

         17  we are seeking --

         18                 MR. WILLIAMS: I am not being hostile

         19  --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Nor am I.

         21                 MR. WILLIAMS: We are supposed to have

         22  monies for preventive services.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Right.  They

         24  --

         25                 MR. WILLIAMS: Where are they?
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Sir, you asked

          3  the question, you have to hear the answer.

          4                 Since the day the Governor made it a

          5  block grant, they have been cut. We have been

          6  fighting in Albany and in City Hall, and they get

          7  cut at every budget hearing. And this Committee is

          8  responsible for restoring them because we agree with

          9  you, so when you get the bad news, you know, it's

         10  okay, but when you get the good news, you have to

         11  hear it also. We have been the only game in town who

         12  restores preventive services. That's a good thing.

         13                 MR. WILLIAMS: I am not criticizing

         14  you. I am trying to show you what is wrong.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

         16                 Next.

         17                 MR. WILLIAMS: I only need 30 seconds.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Go ahead.

         19                 MR. WILLIAMS: The most perplexing

         20  thing that I find ironic, is the fact that for

         21  hundreds of years, our mothers, our grandmothers and

         22  our great grandmothers have taken care of your

         23  children and it was all right. We cannot raise our

         24  own children with all this experience?

         25                 Back in 1950s you couldn't get any
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          2  services for our people. The people in the

          3  neighborhoods took our children in. Now, where they

          4  are paying, you won't let the people in our

          5  neighborhood take them. You don't want to let the

          6  families take care of them.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: They won't.

          8  Not we.

          9                 MR. WILLIAMS:  All I got to say is,

         10  nothing is phased in America. Wall Street, as you

         11  know, is the financial capital of the world, well it

         12  started out Wall Street just sold slaves down there,

         13  that's what they are doing today.

         14                 Thank you very much for your

         15  attention.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you,

         17  sir.

         18                 Sonny B. Southerland, Sr. And then

         19  Leslie Meadows Brown and we will be done. Let's make

         20  believe it is a minute to 9:00, come on, sir, you

         21  are on.

         22                 MR. SOUTHERLAND: I represent the

         23  people's advocacy group of Brooklyn, New York. My

         24  16-year-old was taken away from me 9:30 at night by

         25  seven police officers and one case worker, because
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          2  my teenage daughter, when I tried to get services

          3  for her from ACS drank in school.

          4                 My kids have been in care for almost

          5  two years, they have been abused. My son was beat up

          6  by a school principal in Harlem. My son's tooth was

          7  broken, my daughter had two bruises below her right

          8  eye and the left eye at different times. They are in

          9  Edwin School for Children's Services. I have written

         10  them numerous letters to the Mayor, the Governor to

         11  Nicholas Scoppetta, spoke to Nicholas Scoppetta,

         12  spoke to his supervisor who assisted, I have spoken

         13  with everyone and no one has done nothing.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Are you in

         15  court, sir?

         16                 MR. SOUTHERLAND: I am in court. I

         17  have two appeals against both judges.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Okay.

         19                 MR. SOUTHERLAND: I would like to make

         20  a recommendation, I would like to say stop modern

         21  day slavery. I also would like to say, who come

         22  these City agencies are not held accountable for the

         23  abuses that happen in foster care? Why are these

         24  agencies covering up? The 800 number will not take

         25  your complaint if you try to call on an agency that
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          2  is housing your kids.

          3                 Also, I would like to say, where is

          4  the justice system? There is no justice system.

          5  These people lie, perjure themselves. This runs

          6  rampant in Family Court. These judges have no idea.

          7  The 18B assigned attorneys are garbage, I don't know

          8  how they became lawyers, who gave them their

          9  crackerjack bar association licenses? They do not

         10  represent people in court. The current procedure is

         11  phony, it is out of control.

         12                 I am asking that the Council look

         13  into with a fine toothcomb and really do something

         14  and not just sit there.

         15                 And I just want to say one last thing

         16  in closing. If you really want to know how it is, go

         17  through the system yourself.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you.

         20                 Okay, the last witness. Let's

         21  everybody quiet down a minute. This is the last

         22  witness. Leslie Meadows Brown.

         23                 MS. BROWN: Yes, well, everybody has

         24  said a lot of what I feel, so I am not going to go

         25  over it.
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          2                 I had six children taken away from

          3  me. I am a 27-year-old woman. I have my husband

          4  here. We are married. We participated in parenting,

          5  we did counseling, we want our children home. They

          6  have not returned our children. They are not even

          7  offering any preventive services which I offered to

          8  have in my home if they wanted.

          9                 Basically preventive services is what

         10  I recommend.

         11                 Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Thank you very

         13  much. I hope you are in court trying to get them

         14  back.

         15                 Let me close the hearing in the

         16  following way.

         17                 MR. BROWN: Excuse me, can I just say

         18  one thing?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Are you her

         20  husband?

         21                 MR. BROWN: Yes.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: Ten seconds.

         23                 MR. BROWN: Okay, I just want to say

         24  ACS is full of a lot of crap, because what I want to

         25  understand is that you all made rules and justice
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          2  for us, but yet you all break them. That is not

          3  right at all. You all set the rules for us to obey

          4  in the justice system, but you turn around and you

          5  break them. You are just equal. So, if you all want

          6  us to obey the rules in the justice system, you all

          7  got to do the same way.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: There is one

          9  minor correction --

         10                 MS. BROWN: Excuse me.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: No, no, excuse

         12  me, Ma'am.

         13                 The hearing has to be over now, so

         14  let me sum up in ten seconds myself. We will walk

         15  out, I will chat with you, if there is anything you

         16  can provide to us as well.

         17                 Folks, there are a lot of things that

         18  we --

         19                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: That's not

         20  fair.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: What is not

         22  fair now?

         23                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: There are other

         24  people.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON DiBRIENZA: We got every
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          2  signed witness, it is a quarter after nine, we are

          3  supposed to be out of here at nine.

          4                 Let me just assure you, the only

          5  correction I made all night, I didn't correct anyone

          6  all night, listen to me, this is important. There is

          7  only one correction to be made. This is the second

          8  in a series of hearings, we are always available to

          9  take in information. While it may not solve

         10  individual cases, we are designed to try to help

         11  change the system so that our kids, your kids, the

         12  kids, the children and families of this City, are

         13  not left at risk. Whether that means more preventive

         14  services need to be fought for, or overseeing ACS

         15  and its components, or working on this pendulum that

         16  swings to the point where too many children are

         17  pulled, where case-by-case review does not take

         18  place, because sometimes it is appropriate and

         19  sometimes it is not, whether it is coming to sit in

         20  Harlem, or going to sit in Guillermo's district, or

         21  Brooklyn, where I am from, or any other borough in

         22  this City, we are prepared to do that.

         23                 The only reason we rushed people is

         24  to try to make our 9:00 deadline. We know how

         25  serious this issue is, and the only correction I
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          2  will make is anyone who said "you" make us the

          3  rules, force us to do et cetera, I will correct it

          4  to say they. We are the Council. We are elected

          5  representatives, your representatives, we are trying

          6  to make this agency better to make the lives of

          7  these children and families at risk less at risk.

          8  That is why we are here.

          9                 We thank you all for coming, and

         10  thank you to the Schomberg folks.

         11                 The meeting is adjourned.

         12                 (Hearing concluded at 9:15 p.m.)
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